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C H A I R  
P R E S I D E N T

a n d  t h e  

R e p o r t  f r o m  t h e  

On behalf of the Board of Trustees and Staff, we are pleased to present the Annual 

Report of the Canadian Museum of Nature for the period April 1, 2002 to March 31, 2003. 

D etails of the Canadian Museum of Nature achievements against the four main objectives for 2002-03 
are provided in this report. We will highlight a few key areas. We will signal also some of the shifts in 

direction already taking place, as we move to implement the new five-year-plan to achieve the strategic vision 
of CMN in 2008: “Connecting People with Nature.” 

A major element of the new vision is working with others to create exhibitions and programmes and 
services that none can create separately, in order to achieve new levels of service and benefit to Canadians. 
We have sought and will continue to develop networks, partnerships and joint ventures with museums across 
Canada, with institutions in the public and private sectors and with other national institutions. This past year, 
CMN developed a range of new partnerships, including one with Corrections Canada, Health Canada and 
others to deliver youth forums on social issues, and another with the Canadian Conservation Institute on risk 
assessment modeling for Canadian museums. 

A partnership with Genome Canada and the Canadian Institutes of Health Research enabled the 
Museum to develop a comprehensive public education project on genomics – plant, animal and human. A 
national traveling exhibition, The Geee! in Genome will open in April 2003. The exhibition, national public 
programming and Web-based educational activities will engage people in the science of genomics and in the 
issues and opportunities it presents. The exhibition is fully booked for its initial three-year tour across 
Canada. When the tour concludes, The Geee! in Genome will form part of the new signature gallery, the Nature 
of Humans, planned for the Victoria Memorial Museum Building. 

CMN plays a significant role in facilitating and contributing to national networks of scientific and museum 
expertise. CMN hosted a major scientific event this year, the 17th International Diatom Symposium, held in 
Canada for the first time. CMN is one of Canada’s leading centres for the identification and classification of 
diatoms. Over 150 scientists and students attended from around the world. 

CMN also initiated the founding meeting of a network or alliance of 12 Canadian museums with natural 
history mandates. The museums plan to work together in areas where we will have greater impact through 
combined effort: increasing the visibility and influence of natural history museums and the accessibility of 
collections and related information. The 12 participating museums will announce the creation of the alliance 
at the annual conference of the Canadian Museums Association in May 2003. 

Increasing access to CMN collections data, by converting over 150 years of records from print to electronic 
format, permits greater use of collections and related information. Over 32,000 new collection specimen records 
were entered this year, surpassing the annual target of 30,000. The goal is to have 662,000 collection records 
(25 percent of total collection units that can be catalogued) accessible electronically by 2007-08. 

A 3-D Imaging Centre has been established at the Natural Heritage Building using leading edge technology 
developed by the National Research Council of Canada. The Centre produces state-of-the-art digital images 
of CMN collection specimens and will expand gradually to provide these services to museums and scientists 
across Canada and internationally. CMN also acquired a new DNA sequencer and the DNA lab will be in full 
operation in June 2003. 
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The refit of CMN’s historic public facility – the Victoria Memorial Museum Building – and the renewal 
of the exhibition galleries are significant aspects of the new vision to 2008 and the Museum’s strengthened 
programme of national service. The Museum is presently working with the Government of Canada to find a 
solution for the required renovations to the VMMB. 

In order to secure private sector support for new exhibition galleries and programmes envisaged in the new 
strategic plan, the Museum launched the first phase of the Natural Partnerships Campaign to raise $10 million. 
While considerable progress has been made on the Community and National elements of the Campaign, there 
is a third aspect that has been especially exciting and that is the Family Campaign. We are pleased and proud 
to report that, to date, the Family (Trustees and Staff) has pledged nearly $250,000. 

In closing, we wish to express appreciation to the Board of Trustees, Staff, Associates and all CMN Volunteers 
for their hard work and significant contributions to fulfilling the Museum’s mandate of service to Canadians. 

Dr. Frederic T. Kasravi, LLD 
Chair of the Board of Trustees 

Joanne DiCosimo 
President and Chief Executive Officer 
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New Chair looks forward to the job 

Dr. Frederic T. Kasravi was appointed CMN’s new Chair of the Board of Trustees effective March 19, 2003. 
Dr. Kasravi is a noted businessman, entrepreneur and community fundraiser with over 40 years of 

experience in both the corporate and philanthropic sectors. These strengths will be of great benefit to CMN. 
As the institution moves forward with a new vision and model of national service, Dr. Kasravi is eager 

to help CMN become known across Canada and internationally for its excellence in promoting understanding 
of the natural world. He credits his appreciation and respect for nature to his father, a professor of horticulture. 

Dr. Kasravi studied engineering at Cambridge University followed by a Master of Engineering degree at 
the University of Tehran. After immigrating to Canada, he worked for various life insurance companies before 
creating and leading Teranet, an innovative land information system and surveying company, in the early 1980s. 

His career has been marked by community involvement: fundraising for numerous charities such as the 
Kidney Foundation and the Liver Foundation and providing assistance to disadvantaged children through the 
Christian Children’s Fund of Canada and the Global Relief Fund of Canada. He has also served on the boards 
of many organizations, from the Royal Ontario Museum to Royal Roads University Foundation, where he 
currently lectures on entrepreneurship. He has received numerous citations and awards from Canada (including 
a 1991 Citation of Citizenship Award) and other countries, including France and the United Kingdom. 

CMN Trustees and Staff extend a heartfelt welcome to Dr. Kasravi and look forward to future work 
together to increase the visibility and value of the Museum to Canadians. 

C A N A D I A N  M U S E U M  O F  N A T U R E  3 
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Long-serving Museum Chair steps down 

O n March 18, 2003, Frank Ling completed a very successful seven-year term as Chair of the Canadian 
Museum of Nature’s Board of Trustees. It was a significant and remarkable seven years as, under Mr. Ling’s 

guidance, CMN completed the Natural Heritage Building, a magnificent collections and research facility, and 
moved its vast natural science collections holdings and its research scientists to one shared location for the 
first time in recent decades. Mr. Ling recruited a new President and CEO, restructured the Board’s governance 
systems and led the Museum through a renewal process focused on increasing the service and benefit of CMN 
to Canadians in all regions of the country. 

As Chair of the Board’s Victoria Memorial Museum Building Renovation Committee, Mr. Ling ensured 
that the plans for renovation would result in a Museum that will be functional, sustainable and a source of 
pride for future generations. Finally, to set the pace and the example in private sector fundraising to support 
the new vision of CMN, Mr. and Mrs. Ling stepped forward with the first leadership gift in the Natural 

Partnerships Campaign. 
Under Frank Ling’s stewardship, the CMN has been renewed and revitalized and the Museum wishes to 

acknowledge this major contribution and to convey profound thanks. 

T R A N S I T I O N  4 
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Transforming a national treasure 
The refit of CMN’s historic public facility – the Victoria Memorial Museum Building – and the renewal of the 
exhibition galleries are significant aspects of the new vision to 2008 and the Museum’s strengthened 
programme of national service. The Museum is presently working with the Government of Canada to find a 
solution for the required renovations to the VMMB. 

Major scientific event 
CMN hosted the 17th International Diatom Symposium. The Museum is one of Canada’s leading centres for 
the identification and classification of diatoms – single-celled marine and freshwater life forms that make up 
one-quarter of the earth’s energy-producing organisms.  Dr. Michel Poulin co-ordinated the event. 

Sharing specialized knowledge 
The CMN Conservation project team received the Canadian Museums Association 2002 Award for 
Outstanding Achievement in Conservation for its collection risk assessment project. Our risk-management 
approach is being shared with other museums and institutions in Canada and abroad through workshops 
and training seminars. 

Rare talent rewarded 
Dr. Scott Ercit, head of the Museum’s Rare Elements project, received the Award for Excellence in Teaching 
(2001) from the Dean of Science at Carleton University. Dr. Michel Poulin received an Award of Excellence 
from the Deputy Minister of Fisheries and Oceans Canada in recognition of his remarkable contribution to 
the department and to the Public Service. 

Breaking the ice 
While in the North for fieldwork, Dr. Lynn Gillespie participated in the Students on Ice Expedition, giving 
lectures aboard an icebreaker in the Canadian Arctic. Her talks focused on the biodiversity of flowering plants in 
the Arctic: how they evolved and adapted to the harsh environment, and how past climate change determined 
their present distribution. 

Butterflies come to rest in Mexico 
A large exhibition about conservation of the monarch butterfly reached its final home in Mexico City. 
Monarca: butterfly beyond boundaries debuted in 1993 at CMN in Ottawa, touring North America before being 
donated to the Museo de Historia Natural de la Ciudad de México. Monarca was produced in partnership 
with Monarca A.C., a Mexican non-governmental organization, and the Canadian Nature Federation. 

They love lichens 
Dr. Ernie Brodo’s book Lichens of North America received two prestigious awards: the US Council on Botanical 
and Horticultural Libraries’ Annual Literature Award, and the Henry Allan Gleason Award of the New York 
Botanical Garden for 2002. The book – containing more than 900 stunning, colour photographs – was 
published by Yale University Press. 

25 years devoted to nature 
Volunteers were celebrated at a special 25th anniversary volunteer appreciation dinner. Four volunteers have 
spent 25 years contributing their time and enthusiasm to support CMN programming; others celebrated 20, 
15 and 10-year anniversaries as volunteers. 

C A N A D I A N  M U S E U M  O F  N A T U R E  5 
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T he Canadian Museum of Nature (CMN) originated in the Geological Survey of Canada (GSC), formed 
in 1842 by Sir William Logan. In 1843, Logan and his assistant, Alexander Murray, returned from their 

first field expedition – a geological survey of Southern Ontario and Quebec – with hundreds of specimens 
and nowhere to store them. Logan’s brother, a businessman, let him store the specimens in a room above a 
warehouse in Montreal. There he and Murray spent the rest of the year unpacking, labeling, cataloguing and 
re-packing the specimens in numbered boxes – creating the Museum’s first collection. 

In 1851, Logan developed a beautiful display of Canadian minerals of economic interest for the Great 
Exhibition of 1851 in London, England. The Survey’s first exhibition work was enormously successful. “Of all 
the British Colonies,” the Exhibition Committee declared, “Canada is that whose exhibition is the most 
interesting and the most complete.” Logan’s enormous success in London strengthened public support for 
the GSC and set a precedent for the Museum’s popular travelling exhibitions. 

In 1852, Logan, his assistants and his collections were temporarily housed in various warehouses in 
Montreal. They moved into a mansion on St. Gabriel Street, which had been owned by Peter McGill, President 
of the Bank of Montreal. This building became the Museum’s home for the next 30 years until it moved to 
George Street in Ottawa’s Byward Market in 1881. 

The years 1867-1907 were an exciting period of growth for the national Museum. The GSC’s field officers 
studied, collected and reported on the country’s topography, climate, flora and fauna, geology and mineral 
resources, as well as on Canada’s Aboriginal peoples. 

First purpose-built national museum 
Commissioned by Sir Wilfrid Laurier at the beginning of the 20th century, the Victoria Memorial Museum 
Building opened its doors to the public in 1912 with spectacular exhibits – in beautiful new display cases – 
of Canadian minerals, birds and fossils. The building commemorates Queen Victoria who died in 1901. 
Charles M. Sternberg discovered the bulk of dinosaurs in CMN’s collection in southwestern Alberta and 
shipped them back to Ottawa. The skeleton of Edmontosaurus was the first dinosaur mounted for public display 
in Canada in 1913 and is still on view in the Life Through the Ages Gallery. 

T R A N S I T I O N  6 
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Parliamentary connections 
After a fire destroyed the Centre Block of the Parliament Buildings in 1916, the seat of government moved 
temporarily to the Victoria Memorial Museum Building. The House of Commons sat in the Auditorium for 
four years while the Senate occupied the East Wing. Sir Wilfrid Laurier never returned to the Hill. He died 
in 1919 and his body lay in state surrounded by flags and flowers in the Museum’s Auditorium. 

The Victoria Memorial Museum Building has been designated the third most important heritage building 
in Canada after the Parliamentary Library and Centre Block. 

New beginnings 
CMN became a Crown Corporation on July 1, 1990, with a new mandate to increase interest in, knowledge 
of, and appreciation and respect for, the natural world throughout Canada and internationally. 

At that time, the Museum’s operations were scattered over 13 buildings throughout the National Capital 
Region and CMN’s heritage collections were kept in uncontrolled environments. A long-term project was initiated 
to consolidate all operations except exhibits and public programming activities into one purpose-built facility. 

The Natural Heritage Building in Gatineau was inaugurated in May 1997. With its leading-edge technology, 
the new collections and research facility was designed according to advanced collection management and 
preservation requirements in order to safeguard Canada’s natural history collection in perpetuity. 

Ten million specimens, including tiny dried flowers, delicate arrays of mounted insects and two-ton 
dinosaur fossils, were carefully packed and moved from different locations around the National Capital 
Region to the new facility. CMN received a Canadian Museums Association Achievement Award for the 
successful move in 1998. 

Public Works and Government Services Canada (PWGSC) completed extensive stonework restoration at 
the VMMB to preserve the façade of this historic building and to ensure the safety of staff and visitors in 1997. 
The City of Ottawa acknowledged this achievement with its Heritage Award in 1999. 

Cross-Canada consultations and a strategic planning process resulted in a new vision and national role, 
programme and service for 2008. 

C A N A D I A N  M U S E U M  O F  N A T U R E  7 
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Connecting People with Nature – 
Implementing the New Vision 

Beginning in 2003, the Museum will implement the new five-year-plan to achieve the 

strategic vision of CMN in 2008: “Connecting People with Nature.” To develop this plan, 

the Museum consulted broadly over a period of almost two years with colleagues, 

potential partners, with the public and with staff, in order to understand and address 

expectations and concerns. 

A major component of the new vision is emphasis on networks, partnerships and joint ventures with 
museums across Canada, with institutions in the public and private sectors, and with other national institutions. 
The ultimate goal is to increase CMN’s and its partners’ ability to address environmental issues of concern to 
Canadians and to engage people in all regions of the country. 

The Museum has defined the following key characteristics and qualities as essential to fulfilling its 
mandate and vision: 

� To be an engaging and trusted source for the development of a sound, knowledge-based 
relationship with the natural world; 

� To work as a catalyst, coordinator or contributor in a Canada-wide network of natural history 
expertise and resources; 

� To showcase, celebrate and encourage learning about the natural diversity of Canada and people’s 
role and responsibility as members of larger natural communities; 

� To be a valued contributor to inform and influence Canadian public policy on natural science issues. 
The new strategic plan places emphasis on the community CMN exists to serve and on a new model of 

national service. The Museum will work with colleagues and partners to create services and educational 
products that none can create separately. The focus will be on natural history issues of relevance to 
Canadians. The results of a survey undertaken in Spring 2002 show a clear gap between Canadians’ perceived 
level of knowledge and their level of interest in natural history. This is a gap that CMN seeks to bridge. 

The survey tested 17 subject areas that were grounded in the work of the Museum. The data from the 
survey suggest that the strongest connection respondents make to the Museum is environmental and that 
Canadians want CMN to be a source of substantive, credible information about pressing environmental 
issues. Information from the survey was a key contributor to the Museum’s decision to select environmental 

change as the overarching issue and focus in the new strategic plan. The Museum has chosen the following 
three key themes under environmental change: 

1. Understanding the critical factors affecting change 
2. Understanding the human element
3. Understanding the history of species and habitat distributions 

These themes will guide the development of projects, programmes and activities for the next five years. 
The strategic plan envisions increased electronic access to natural science knowledge, national travelling 

exhibitions, diverse educational programmes and products and, ultimately, the production of four new museum 
galleries – all developed through a network of partnerships and designed to engage the largest number of 
Canadians. The new galleries are Fossil, Nature of Humans, the Discovery Centre, and Water. Existing galleries 
will also undergo extensive refurbishment. 

To support this new vision and model of national service, the Museum launched the Natural Partnerships 

Campaign in 2001. The current phase of the Campaign seeks to generate $10 million to support the new national 
programme development and creation of the galleries noted above. 

The refit of the Victoria Memorial Museum Building and the renewal of the exhibition galleries are 
significant aspects of the new vision to 2008 and the Museum’s strengthened programme of national service. 
Building condition studies conducted between 2000-2002 revealed significant deficiencies that must be 
addressed. The Museum is working with the Government of Canada to find a solution. 

C A N A D I A N  M U S E U M  O F  N A T U R E  9 
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Increase national service and impact


The first of CMN’s four major goals in 2002-03 was to serve, at home and abroad, as a 

trusted source of knowledge in the natural sciences and as an active member of the 

museum community in order to further Canadians’ understanding of the natural world 

and their appreciation for their natural heritage. 

On-line access increased 
To increase accessibility to the natural history collections, 32,566 new specimen records were created this 
year, exceeding the annual goal of 30,000. CMN now has almost 515,000 collection records available on-line 
to staff (not for the public) out of a total of 2.5 million cataloguable records. All new acquisitions are entered 
into the system as they are accessioned. The Museum received $20,000 from the Canadian Information System 
for the Environment for the Bird Observation Records project, providing about 23,000 electronic records – 
to Bird Studies Canada – including 46,000 scanned images of all Quebec observation cards. 

The Museum has received generous support for its collections documentation efforts from the Salamander 
Foundation. Work on the database has also benefited from contract requests for data from organizations such 
as the Department of Fisheries and Oceans and Parks Canada. 

There were more than 50 postings to the Museum’s Web site nature.ca over the year. There were monthly 
calendar changes and other updates; new materials were added to accompany exhibitions including the native 
plants section for Green Legacy and the Great Asian Dinosaurs exhibition. Much energy was focused on vision 
implementation planning, research and design for new components coming on-stream in fiscal 2003-04 (such 
as The Geee! in Genome Web site), as well as a site-specific search engine and improvements to Natural History 
Notebooks. 

CMN was a partner in the production of the Web site Du roc au métal/Rock’n Metal with the Canadian 
Heritage Information Network and the Musée de la civilisation in Quebec, one of several Virtual Museum of 
Canada projects. Work continued on “Northern Peoples-Northern Knowledge: the Canadian Arctic 
Expedition 1913-1918,” in partnership with Parks Canada, the Geological Survey of Canada and the 
Canadian Museum of Civilization. The Museum also piloted on-line video with a three-minute promotional 
video about the national travelling exhibition Green Legacy, as part of ongoing efforts to use technology for 
communicating information about CMN programmes and activities to the widest possible audience. 

New partnerships developed 
The Museum partnered with a range of government departments and 
other organizations on issues of national concern to further the priorities 
of the scientific and museum communities: 

� A partnership agreement was negotiated with the Canadian 
Conservation Institute on the subject of risk assessment modeling 
for Canadian museums. 

� A memorandum of understanding (MOU) was signed with Parks 
Canada to initiate discussions on cooperative programs in public 
programming, collections management and research. 

� An MOU was signed with Environment Canada’s Climate Change 
Action Fund (CCAF) and the Centre for Traditional Knowledge to 
work together to produce Cycles of Life, a travelling exhibition on 
the topic of climate change. 

C A N A D I A N  M U S E U M  O F  N A T U R E  11 
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� A partnership was signed with the Royal Saskatchewan Museum and several other organizations and 
community partners to study the Frenchman River watershed in southwestern Saskatchewan, modeled 
after the very successful Rideau River Biodiversity Project led by CMN. 

� CMN initiated a meeting of 12 Canadian museums with natural history mandates to explore the potential 
for a formal network. 

� A Museums/Schools Partnership Award was co-developed with the Canadian College of Teachers. 

� A partnership was developed with Corrections Canada, Health Canada and others to deliver youth 
forums on social issues. After the successful pilot held at CMN, a second youth conference was 
organized in Edmonton, with participation by the Centre for Traditional Knowledge. 

� The Canadian CineMuse network continued to expand with the Saskatchewan Science Centre 
joining the network. 

� Building upon a long-standing partnership in conjunction with the Earth Sciences Department at 
Carleton University, paleobiology researchers have developed an undergraduate programme with a con­
centration in Vertebrate Paleontology. 

Collections preserved and enlarged 
The CMN Conservation project team received the Canadian Museums Association (CMA) 2002 Award for 
Outstanding Achievement in Conservation for its collection risk assessment project. The award recognizes 
CMN’s use of risk analysis to prioritize care of the 10 million specimens in its collections. The project team 
identified 85 individual risks, ranging from catastrophic events such as earthquakes to more subtle risks such 
as a slight rise in temperature. The CMA cited the project for its national significance, for exceeding the 
current standard of museum practice and for being a useful example that demonstrates creativity, leadership 
and effective use of resources. CMN is sharing this award-winning, risk-management approach with other 
museums and institutions in Canada and abroad through a series of workshops and training seminars. 

Paleobiology staff acquired a number of spectacular specimens for the new Fossil Gallery, including a 
complete Hoplophoneus (saber tooth cat) skeleton that is 30 to 34 million years old, a rare beaver skull, a set of 
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camel skeletons and a very rare Cretaceous crab. In all, 
24,210 new specimens were added to the collections 
this year (slightly more than the 23,489 specimens 
acquired in 2001-02). 

Staff completed a collections development plan that 
gives longer-term focus and precision to the collect­
ing activities of the Museum. CMN wants a decision-
making framework for the development of collections 
that complements, rather than competes with, other 
natural history museums in Canada. The refinement 
and implementation of this plan will continue to be 
strongly influenced by the collective interest in such 
an approach expressed by the Natural History 
Museum network participants. 

Research conducted 
Members of CMN’s large, multidisciplinary team of scientists worked throughout Canada and abroad this 
year, conducting research, collecting specimens and teaching. They spent a total of 339 days on fieldwork. 
Some examples of the kinds of research undertaken, and its significance, are described below. 

Issues in Biodiversity 
The Issues in Biodiversity project focuses on understanding and managing biodiversity through basic systematic 
and ecological research. The invaluable information in our collections – combined with the expertise of the 
scientific staff – make CMN an essential partner in addressing the challenging issues related to the diversity 
of life forms on Earth. The research findings will also be used in the design of new Museum exhibitions, the 
Nature of Humans Gallery, the Water Gallery and the Discovery Centre. 

12 T R A N S I T I O N  
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Dr. Robert Anderson was awarded a four-year Natural Sciences and 
Engineering Research Council operating grant of $10,000 per year 
through his adjunct status at McGill University, for his project, 
“Biodiversity and Conservation of Canadian Coleoptera.” He undertook 
30 days of field work in Honduras and Nicaragua as part of his research 
on documentation and conservation of endangered or rare species. 

Dr. André Martel, working with Jackie Madill, received $6,000 from 
the National Capital Commission to conduct a preliminary survey of 
freshwater mussels and rare gastropods in Meech Lake. This study is the 
first to quantify thoroughly the lake’s mussels and their distribution. In the 
course of their exploratory dives, Dr. Martel’s team discovered six live 
specimens of the triangle floater (Alasmidonta undulata), a species never 
before documented in the lake. The mussels are a way to help assess the 
ecosystem integrity and health of the lake bottom, and whether mussel 
stocks have declined with the introduction of exotic fishes (bass). 

The Canadian Centre for Biodiversity (CCB) is a key Museum initiative that was established to assist Canada 
in fulfilling its commitment to the Convention on Biological Diversity. CCB undertook a range of projects this 
year, as follows. 

Native Plant Environmental Stewardship Initiative 
With support from the Salamander Foundation, a public symposium entitled, “Best Stewardship Practices at 
the Community Level: Enhancing Native Plants Biodiversity,” was held at the Museum in April 2002. The 
programme introduced the Stewardship concept and included presentations on the special status of plants 
(rare, endangered, invasive), habitat gardening, the issue of pesticide use, and local knowledge. The symposium 
was followed by concurrent field trips and provided an effective introduction to what environmentally conscious 
individuals and community groups are doing to safeguard biodiversity. 

In May 2002, the Museum displayed exhibits by community groups, naturalist clubs, municipalities, 
academic institutions, governmental and conservation agencies, and private initiatives that featured topics such 
as: working in the field of plant biodiversity, gardening with native plants, gardening for wildlife, pesticide-free 
lawn care and environmental stewardship. 

A one-day forum was held in Ottawa, in November 2002. It brought together 45 participants representing 
various sectors of the National Capital Region involved in environmental stewardship initiatives and the 
conservation of native plants. The purpose of the forum was to facilitate networking and the sharing of 
knowledge within the community, to identify needs and gaps and to explore the possibilities for joint activities. 

Working Group on Museums and Sustainable Communities 
In May 2002, the Working Group on Museums and Sustainable Communities, led by CCB, presented a half-day 
workshop entitled, “Museums and Sustainability: Tools for Action,” at the Canadian Museum Association 
Annual Conference. Topics included: sustainability inside and outside the museum; integrating sustainability 
in the museum’s framework: from policies to facilities; successful strategies in environmental education and 
sustainability; indicators and evaluation; ecological footprint; culture and sustainability within an urban 
environment. CCB staff and the working group facilitated a special half-day workshop at the Association 
Museums New Brunswick annual conference in October 2002. 

CMN was highlighted as a key player in the Framework on Environmental Learning and Sustainability in 

Canada, published by Environment Canada and launched at the Earth Summit held in Johannesburg, South 
Africa in September 2002. 

Adopt-a-River 
In 2002-03, CCB worked with partners to regionalize the Adopt-a-River programme throughout Quebec and 
Eastern Ontario, collaborated to produce a co-ordinator’s guide and increased the number of participating schools. 

C A N A D I A N  M U S E U M  O F  N A T U R E  13 
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Fossils tell a story 
The study of past biological diversity is critical to our understanding of the origin and evolution of living 
animals and plants. Through their research, CMN’s palaeobiologists describe fossil animals and plants, their 
evolutionary adaptations and the environments in which they lived, and help modern biologists predict how 
animals and plants in today’s settings would react to environmental stimuli such as continental displacement, 
sea level change, and large-scale volcanic, tectonic and meteorite impact events. The research results are also 
important to develop the new Fossil Gallery and the Nature of Humans Gallery. 

This year, Dr. Jaelyn Eberle was awarded a US $23,250 grant from the National Geographic Society for 
research in the High Arctic. She and three other scientists spent two weeks on Ellesmere Island searching for 
fossils of mammals that roamed the area 55 million years ago. This time period experienced the greatest 

known global warming event since the extinction of the 
dinosaurs, 10 million years earlier. The scientists will 
compare their findings with those from Europe and Asia 
to produce more accurate estimates of when Eurasia and 
North America were connected by land bridges. 

In the second year of a three-year project with the 
Royal Tyrrell Museum in Drumheller, Alberta, Dr. Xiao 
Chun Wu spent four weeks at Dry Island Provincial Park, 
120 km north of Drumheller, excavating two fossil-rich 
sites. The team included scientists, technicians and vol­
unteers searching for vertebrate fossils, especially turtles, 
crocodilians, champosaurs (crocodile-like animals) and 
dinosaurs. The presence or absence of these cold-blooded 
animals is deemed to offer good indications of what the 
environment and climate were like 65 million years ago. 

Dr. Kathlyn Stewart and Dr. Gary Coupland 
(University of Toronto) were awarded a three-year Social 
Sciences and Humanities Research Council grant of 
$175,000 to continue work at prehistoric archaeological 
sites at Prince Rupert Harbour, BC. They are analysing bones 
and artifacts to determine how humans and animals were 
affected by environmental change in the past. The grant 
will be administered through the University of Toronto. 

Rare elements have big role 
Although rare elements such as boron make up only a small percentage of our planet, they have high-tech 
applications such as joint implants, superconductors and airplane components. A key goal of the rare 
elements research at CMN is to increase the knowledge, understanding and appreciation of the natural modes 
of occurrence of this economically important group of elements. Among the rare elements being studied by 
Museum researchers are boron, tantalum and niobium. The latter two are durable metals with space-age 
applications. Researchers want to determine the properties and uses of the elements, to monitor the evolution 
of geological systems and to develop new methods of locating economic deposits of rare elements. 

Dr. Scott Ercit carried out fieldwork on granitic pegmatites in western Quebec and led a field trip to the 
Pedneau Quarry in that province. Dr. Paula Piilonen and Robert Gault led a field trip to Mont St. Hilaire, 
Quebec to study alkaline rocks, which are highly enriched in niobium, tantalum and titanium. The specimens 
they brought back were formed from the alkaline magma that crystallized to form Mont St. Hilaire. 
Dr. Piilonen’s work also involves simulating the creation of magma in a lab to study how alkaline rocks form. 

Networks facilitated 
The Museum hosted a major scientific event this year, the 17th International Diatom Symposium, held in 
Canada for the first time. Diatoms are single-celled marine and freshwater life forms that make up one-quarter 
of the earth’s energy-producing organisms. CMN is one of Canada’s leading centres for the identification and 
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classification of diatoms. Dr. Michel Poulin co-ordinated the symposium. Over 150 scientists and students 
attended from around the world. Presentations included scientific lectures about the use of diatoms in assessing 
West Coast fish stocks, their role as indicators of climate change and in tracing the ebb and flow of polar sea 
ice, and even their application as evidence in court cases. Papers from the symposium are being reviewed by 
referees or have been sent to the authors for final approval and will be published later in 2003. 

CMN staff members take lead roles in facilitating and contributing to national networks of scientific and 
museum expertise. This year, science and collections staff made numerous presentations at scientific and 
professional meetings in the NCR, across Canada and abroad, ranging in topics from sustainable communities 
to collection conservation. 

At the Canadian Museums Association annual meeting, CMN representatives chaired a special interest 
group on natural history research and collections; participated in a panel on “Museums and Social Responsibility”; 
and facilitated a workshop on environmental education entitled “Museums and Sustainability: Tools for 
Action,” and an information exchange on fundraising. 

Dr. Hugh Danks participated in a half-day workshop on Northern Regional Impacts and Sensitivity to 
Climate Change, a multi-agency network to elucidate the complex linkages among terrestrial, fresh water and 
coastal ecosystems to climate change. 

CMN researchers prepared reports and chaired various sub-committees for the Committee on the Status of 
Endangered Wildlife in Canada (COSEWIC). Staff participated in meetings of the Tri-Council Working Group 
on Scientific Collections; the Canadian Committee for the International Union for the Conservation of Nature; 
the Biodiversity Knowledge and Innovation Network; and the Museum Trustees Association, to name only a few. 

Scientific expertise shared 
Museum staff members share their learning with colleagues, students and the general public through lectures and 
special courses at CMN facilities and other museums, universities and colleges nationally and internationally. 
Our researchers held 13 professorships or adjunct professorships at Canadian post-secondary institutions 
this year. Dr. Scott Ercit, head of the Rare Elements project, received the Award for Excellence in Teaching 
(2001) from the Dean of Science at Carleton University. Rare elements such as boron make up only a small 
percentage of our planet, but have a wide range of high-tech applications such as joint implants, supercon­
ductors and airplane components. 

Dr. Michel Poulin received an Award of Excellence from the Deputy Minister of Fisheries and Oceans 
Canada in recognition of his contribution to the department and to the Public Service for his work on the 
publication, “Guide d’identification du phytoplancton marin de l’estuaire et du golfe du Saint-Laurent incluant 
certains protozoaires”. 

One unusual classroom was aboard an icebreaker in the Canadian Arctic. While in the North for fieldwork, 
Dr. Lynn Gillespie participated in the Students on Ice Expedition, giving lectures on the biodiversity of flowering 
plants in the Arctic. She was also interviewed on the CBC. 

Dr. Paula Piilonen conducted workshops on minerals and diamonds for students in Igloolik, Nunavut, 
as part of the Simply Science programme funded by the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council. 
She spent eight days at the Institute of Mineralogy, University of Copenhagen and the Geological Museum of 
Denmark, and five days at the Laboratoire des géomatériaux, Université de Marne la Vallée, France. She also 
initiated a summer field-based research project in the Langesundsfjord area of Norway. 

At the annual meeting of the International Society for Risk Analysis, Robert Waller convened a meeting 
of risk analysis and decision analysis professionals to discuss the application of risk assessment to museums. 
He also established a team involving Trent University, Sir Sandford Fleming College and a private company, 
to apply for an Ontario provincial grant to support research on the effects of pollutants on natural science 
collections. 

CMN’s Nature Discovery Fund (NDF) was launched in 1998 to encourage public support for systematics 
and to help support research in this field. This year Dr. Donna Giberson, a freshwater ecologist at the 
University of Prince Edward Island, was awarded an NDF grant for a 300-kilometre collecting expedition and 
insect survey along the remote Thelon River in the Northwest Territories and Nunavut. The tiny winged 
insects she and her graduate student collected are an important food source for fish and some animals. They 
provide information about the quality of the water in which they are found and the data from the study may 
assist with environmental management in the North. 
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Better demonstrate the value 
of the work done by CMN 

The second major goal of the Museum this year was to actively share and communicate 

the nature and results of work done by the institution – to make this significant work 

visible locally and nationally – and to seek broad community participation in its 

activities and programmes. 

New exhibitions succeed 
Green Legacy, an exhibition on rare and endangered Canadian plants, developed in partnership with Royal 
Botanical Gardens, opened in May 2002 at the VMMB. The national exhibition began travelling to other 
museums across Canada in October 2002. As part of the project, CMN developed an outreach educational 
package with tools to foster good stewardship of plant diversity and best practices at the community level. 

A large exhibition about conservation of the monarch butterfly, produced by the CMN, reached its final 
destination in Mexico. Monarca: butterfly beyond boundaries debuted in 1993 at the VMMB in Ottawa, then 
travelled to 10 sites in Canada and the United States before being recently donated to the natural history 
museum in Mexico City, the Museo de Historia Natural de la Ciudad de México. This year, it will become 
part of the museum’s permanent exhibitions. Monarca was produced by the CMN in partnership with 
Monarca A.C., a Mexican non-governmental organization, and the Canadian Nature Federation. 

The exhibition, Great Asian Dinosaurs! Unique Fossils from Russia’s National Collection, opened in October 
at the VMMB with 61 specimens of dinosaurs, other reptiles and mammals from Russia. Visiting Russian 
scientists assisted with the installation and carried on research activities in CMN collections. The exhibition was 
very popular, helping increase the number of visitors by 18.5 percent and attendance revenue by 69 percent 
during its run. The exhibition also contributed to CMN’s visibility in the region. 

Other travelling exhibitions continued to be popular this year, including: Our Feathered Friends, Cry of 

the Loon and Crystals to Gems. The advance component of the new Nature of Humans Gallery, The Geee! in 

Genome travelling exhibition, opening in April 2003, is fully booked for its initial three-year tour. 

New galleries developed 
Work on the Nature of Humans Gallery concentrated on the first phase: the public education project on 
genomics. The Geee! in Genome exhibition – developed in partnership with Genome Canada and the Canadian 
Institutes of Health Research – will help visitors understand the link between genomics, biodiversity and 
environmental health. Key elements will eventually form part of the new signature gallery. Web-based 
educational activities for schools and the general public were completed and a public forums information 
package was developed for host institutions receiving the exhibition. 

The preliminary design for the new Fossil Gallery was completed. Exciting new specimens were purchased 
at the Tucson Mineral and Fossil Show this spring. Contracts are in process for production of major specimens 
for the gallery and for the Extinction Theatre component of the gallery. Storylines have been revised to 
accommodate new discoveries. Mammal reproductions are well underway. The opening date is now set for 
Spring 2006. 

The Water Gallery interim team has been identified, exhibit planning and graphic design support have 
been acquired and preparation of campaign documentation is underway. Development is also underway for 
the Discovery Centre which will be the hub of the renewed VMMB. The Discovery Centre will be based on 
seeing and doing science, using real museum specimens, interacting with other students and scientists from 
across Canada, and exploring topical science issues. 
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Community and school programmes offered 
This past summer, education staff provided natural history day camps to hundreds of children at the Victoria 
Memorial Museum Building. A new concept was successfully piloted in March 2003 called “Mega Day” – a 
full day of activities for school groups at 2-for-1 prices – with 22 school groups taking part in a single day. 
Over 8,000 students participated in Nature Workshops, almost equal to last year’s numbers (8,182). Revenues 
for the Nature Workshops were up 70 percent over last year. A new programme, using real-life science examples 
and tools and an inquiry-based approach, was developed for older children called “Let’s Do Science.” 

Education staff member Dahlia Tanasoiu went to Iqualuit for two days to deliver presentations to 
approximately 300 school children, funded by the Nunavut Research Institute. CMN also expanded a 
successful partnership with the “Conseil des loisirs scientifiques de l’Outaouais” to provide a wider range of 
programming options for French-language school programme clients. 

CMN launched two new public programmes in September. “Hands-on Science” is a weekly activity in 
the Exploration Station featuring CMN Research and Collections staff – and occasionally external science 
experts – presenting examples of scientific activity in an informal manner. Conservation staff developed and 
presented a Junior Conservator programme as part of the series. A second new programme is the Adult 
Workshop Series on various nature hobbies and activities. The first programme offered was an adult Palaeo 
workshop at the Natural Heritage Building. Fossil identification, classification and repair were discussed and 
participants toured the Palaeo collections/labs. 
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Multimedia well-attended 
This year’s audience for the Museum’s broadcast and multimedia 
programming was over one million – a 48 percent increase over the 
year’s target of 800,000. The second season of It’s In Our Nature, 
an 11-part television series with Rogers Ottawa and the Royal 
Canadian Geographical Society as community partners was 
launched. 

The High-Definition Cinema total annual attendance for the 
year was 24,284, down slightly from last year. A focus group was 
conducted with Museum members in March to test their interest in 
Hi-Def Cinema and their recommendations for improvement. 
Results were very positive and their recommendations will be 
considered (e.g., better signage, more movie choice, more 
screening time). The BBC programme “Walking With Dinosaurs: 
Death of a Dynasty” premiered to coincide with the opening of the 
Great Asian Dinosaurs exhibition. New projects include a proposed 
Hi-Def series on wildlife conservation/species at risk, in partnership 
with Environment Canada and an external producer; and “Our 
Incredible World,” a series of grade six curriculum-based video 
modules being developed in collaboration with Pinegrove 
Productions. 
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Publications lauded 
Two books by CMN researchers garnered praise and prestigious awards in Canada and the United States. 
Dr. Ernie Brodo’s book Lichens of North America, published last year, received two awards. The first was the 
US Council on Botanical and Horticultural Libraries’ Annual Literature Award. The second was the Henry 
Allan Gleason Award of the New York Botanical Garden for 2002: this prestigious annual award is for an 
outstanding publication in the fields of plant taxonomy, plant ecology or plant geography. Dr. Brodo’s book 
is illustrated with more than 900 stunning, colour photographs and was published by Yale University Press 
in collaboration with CMN. 

Under the Ice by Dr. Kathy Conlan has been short-listed by the International Reading Association as a 
Children’s Choice for 2003 and was chosen by the Canadian Science Writers’ Association for the Children’s 
Book Award. The book, about Dr. Conlan’s research experiences in the Arctic and Antarctic, has done 
extremely well for a publication of this kind with over 2,700 copies sold since its release. 

Environmental stewardship fostered 
As part of CMN’s Environmental Stewardship Programme, high school students participated in a six-week 
summer programme of fieldwork at the Gatineau site. Partnership with Grande-Rivière high school continued 
with a new group of students participating in capacity building in environmental stewardship from October 
2002 to April 2003. 

Figure 1 – Audience Reach 

2002-03 2001-02 2000-01 2003-04 
2002-03 

Actual Actual Actual vs 2001-02 Projected 

290,504 295,246 314,554 -1.6% 258,700 

High attendance venues 450,900 477,800 371,000 -5.6% 450,000 

Multi-media (TV) (1) 1,181,000 1,130,000 1,038,750 4.5% 840,000 

3,021,113 2,795,767 2,008,558 8.1% 2,500,000 

370,900 320,580 350,500 15.7% 450,000 

Purchase CMN products (2) 3,747 62,611 1,924 -94.0% 3,500 

Number of school group visits (3) 1,022 1,189 1,141 -14.0% 714 

Number of participants in school group visits (4) 42,637 49,556 46,995 -14.0% 30,000 

Number of people participating in guided tours 3,180 2,955 1,884 7.6% 1,500 

Number of people participating in workshops 8,033 8,182 9,524 -1.8% 5,894 

Variation % 

Local Attendance (after-hour, open-hour, NHB, NCR) 

Unique Web site visits 

Travelling Exhibitions 

NOTE: 

(1) This category covers television programmes that have been produced or co-produced by CMN’s broadcast and multimedia unit. It includes the second series of It’s In Our Nature 
with Rogers Television and the Royal Canadian Geographical Society, and re-broadcasts of Rivers: Reflections of Life and Wetlands: Cradles of Life. 

(2) The number of products sold in 2001-02 was higher due to the liquidation of CMN’s co-publisher, Somerville House. 

(3) The number of school group visits for fiscal year 2002-03 is an estimate based on 2001-02’s ratio of participants per group. 

(4) The number of participants in school group visits includes guided tours, self-guided tours and unguided tours. It does not include the Nature Workshops. 
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systems and facilities 

Put in place, maintain and improve an 
effective and efficient infrastructure of 

The third major goal was to ensure that all support systems of the institution promote 

maximum effectiveness and efficiency of operations and enable all work units to 

maximize their contribution to the service and value of the Museum. 
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Renewal project plans finalized 
Over the next decade, the Museum intends to renew its public exhibition centre – the historic Victoria 
Memorial Museum Building (VMMB) – by rehabilitating the infrastructure, transforming the exhibitions on 
site and in circulation, and ensuring national access to educational resources, scientific collections and 
research results. 

At the end of March 2003, CMN was in the final stages of preparing for the renovation. As a result of the 
additional building condition reports finalized in 2002, the Museum put together a comprehensive planning 
and design team to develop and finalize a renovation plan for the VMMB. The Board of Trustees determined 
that the proposed solutions to the VMMB deficiencies must result in a museum that is safe, functional, 
sustainable and a source of pride for future generations. 

Design solutions were developed within this framework. Consultations were held with the National 
Capital Commission, the City of Ottawa and the Federal Heritage Review Buildings Office. Class B estimates 
of the costs of the building rehabilitation were prepared. The Government of Canada and CMN are working 
together to identify solutions for the required renovations. 
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Enhanced IT, imaging 
and projection capacities 
CMN has created a 3-D Imaging Centre as a service for the museum 
and heritage communities. The technology was developed by the 
National Research Council Canada and is patented by the 
Government of Canada and Arius 3-D Inc. The Centre combines the 
world’s leading three-dimensional laser scanning technology with 
trained technicians who are expert in the needs of collections-based 
institutions. The Centre offers museums and heritage agencies an 
exciting new capacity to create precise, three-dimensional, true-
colour, digital records of unique artifacts and specimens. The data 
can serve a wide range of needs for educational and related products, 
and is particularly suited for digital collections documentation. 

CMN’s capacity to capture and utilize digital imagery in science 
and research activities was improved substantively with the acquisi­
tion and deployment of nine new microscope workstations includ­
ing high resolution digital cameras, specialized image software, and 
attached processors. 

The Museum developed and put into place an updated IT 
Governance Structure which includes an IT Strategic Planning 
Committee and an IT Users Group in order to better plan and utilize 
technology to meet strategic goals and to better address user needs. 
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CMN continued to upgrade its technology infrastructure and capability with the completion of the 
migration to a new electronic messaging system, the deployment of 70 new personal computers to staff, an 
upgrade to the Windows XP operating system and other improvements. The Museum also commissioned and 
completed an independent assessment of the IT infrastructure and is currently developing an action plan to 
address identified weaknesses and opportunities. 

New custom equipment was acquired for the VMMB including a system for the hearing impaired for the 
auditorium and two new data projectors (one for the Genome exhibition and one for general usage). 

Supportive work environment enhanced 
CMN selected a firm to assist Human Resources with a Multi-Source Feedback exercise for CMN managers 
and supervisors. As part of integrating the new vision into HR planning, a Core Competencies Guide was 
completed and implementation of the action plan will begin in the first quarter of 2003-04. A collective 
agreement was signed in December with the Public Service Alliance of Canada. Six workshops dealing with 
Respect in the Workplace and Harassment Sensitivity Training were offered to a total of 122 Museum employees. 

Volunteer contributions recognized 
This year’s special 25th anniversary volunteer appreciation dinner took place on May 15. A number of vol­
unteers celebrated long-service anniversaries with the CMN: four celebrated 25 years; two celebrated 20 
years; three celebrated 15 years; and one celebrated 10 years. 
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Increase self-generated revenue 

The fourth and final goal of the Museum this past year was to access additional 

Natural Partnerships 
New developments in the Natural Partnerships 

More Campaign funds secured 
Campaign included gifts from the Climate Change Action 

resources in order to enhance its programme of services and its value to Canadians. 

Fund, the Royal Bank of Canada Charitable Foundation and the EJLB Foundation. The Bickell Foundation, 
Public Works and Government Services Canada, the Library of Parliament and the Canadian Study of 
Parliament Group provided their support for “Stories from Within the Castle Walls,” an exhibition on the rich 
history of the VMMB. Meetings were held with a range of prospective funders who will consider proposals 
once the final renovation schedule for the VMMB has been determined. 

The Family Campaign raised close to a quarter million dollars in pledges: $152,959 from Trustees and 
$86,227 from employees. The Employee Campaign concluded with a celebration lunch in June 2002. 
A recognition event is planned for May 2003, at which time the employees’ legacy gift of two Chasmosaurus 
mounts will be unveiled on the plaza outside the main entrance to the VMMB. 

Community Campaign pledges totalled $44,700 at the end of March 2003. 

Additional revenue realized 
There were 1,631 active members as of March 31, 2003, which was 34 percent above this year’s annual goal. 

The Newfoundland Museum purchased 200 geologic drawers and the Redpath Museum has ordered 
400, for total revenue of $12,000. Direct mail, royalties and distribution had year-to-date revenues of 
$21,451, surpassing by 214 percent the revenue targets for fiscal 2002-03. 

In recognition of a donation of $500 or more, the Nature Discovery Fund (NDF) arranges for a species 
to be named in honour of the donor or in recognition of someone the donor designates. The NDF grew to a 
total of 48 gifts, 10 of which were received this year. To date, 18 new species have been identified and recognition 
materials sent to the honourees. 
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A Fond Tribute to Colin Eades 

After a dedicated 26-year career with the CMN, Vice-President Colin Eades retired 
in February 2003. Mr. Eades joined the Museum in 1977 as Assistant Director of 
Finance and Administration, moving on to positions as Chief of Zoology, 
Comptroller, Director of National Programmes, Director of Capital Projects, 
Interim President and, finally, Vice-President and Chief Operating Officer. 

When asked, Mr. Eades stated that his most exciting and complex challenge 
was the four-year period spent planning, negotiating the financing and overseeing 
the building of the Natural Heritage Building – and the careful transfer of 10 million 
specimens to the state-of-the-art Gatineau facility. He looks forward to following 
from a distance the progress of the exciting renovation plans for the Victoria 
Memorial Museum Building. 

As to retirement plans, Mr. Eades hopes to combine his passion for travel with 
volunteering through the Canadian Executive Services Overseas. 
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Board of Trustees


The Board of Trustees is CMN’s governing body, responsible to Parliament through 

the Minister of Canadian Heritage. The 11 members of the Board of Trustees are 

Governor-in-Council appointees from all regions of the country. Through accountability, 

strategic policy and planning frameworks, the Board provides corporate direction and 

delegates authority to the President for the management of CMN. In 2002-03, the Board 

of Trustees met four times and held two conference calls. Fourteen meetings of the 

Committees of the Board were held either in person or through conference calls. 

Frank Ling stepped down as Chair in mid-March and Dr. Frederic T. Kasravi was appointed 

Chair effective March 19, 2003. Charmaine Crooks of Vancouver joined the Board this year. 

Standing Committees 

Executive Committee 

Mandate: The Executive Committee is responsible for 
monitoring the activities of the Board of Trustees and its 
Standing Committees, for conducting the President’s 
annual performance review and for evaluating the effec­
tiveness of the governance structure/system.The 
Executive Committee acts on behalf of the Board 
between meetings, in accordance with Board policy. 

Audit and Finance Committee 

Mandate: The Audit and Finance Committee is respon­
sible for ensuring the Museum’s compliance with legal, 
fiscal and audit requirements established for CMN by 
the Government of Canada, for recommending addition­
al policies in these areas as appropriate, and for guiding 
and supporting CMN’s efforts to develop a skilled, pro­
ductive and effective workforce. 

Community and Government Relations Committee 

Mandate: The Community and Government Relations 
Committee is responsible for raising and sustaining in 
the national community a positive awareness of CMN, 
its services and its contributions, and for guiding and 
supporting CMN’s efforts to generate revenue. 

Board of Trustees 

Frank Ling 
Chair, Ottawa, Ontario 
(until March 19, 2003) 

Dr. Frederic T. Kasravi, LLD 
Chair, 
Victoria, British Columbia 
(effective March 19, 2003) 

Louise Beaubien-Lepage 
Vice-Chair, Montreal, Quebec 

R. Kenneth Armstrong, O.M.C., 
Peterborough, Ontario 

Patricia Stanley Beck 
Saskatoon, Saskatchewan 

Johanne Bouchard 
Longueuil, Quebec 

Charmaine Crooks 
North Vancouver, British Columbia 

Jane Dragon 
Fort Smith, NWT 

Jordan Livingston 
Hamilton, Ontario 

Carol McDonald 
St. John’s, Newfoundland 
and Labrador 

Garry Parenteau 
Fishing Lake, Alberta 

Roy H. Piovesana 
Thunder Bay, Ontario 

Management Team 

Joanne DiCosimo 
President, 

Chief Executive Officer


Colin Eades 
Vice-President, 
Corporate Services and 
Chief Operating Officer 
(until December 31, 2002) 

Maureen Dougan 
Vice-President, 
Corporate Services and 
Chief Operating Officer 
(effective January 1, 2003) 

Denyse Jomphe 
Director, 

Human Resources Services


Lynne Ladouceur 
Director, 

Financial Management Services


Roger Baird 
Director, 
Collections Services 

Mark Graham 
Director, Research Services 

Risë Paquette 
Acting Director, Development 
and Fund-Raising Services 

Elizabeth McCrea 
Manager, 
Communications Services 

Mary Ellen Herbert 
Manager, Community Services 

Monty Reid 
Manager, Exhibitions Services 

Greg Smith 
Manager, 

Information Technology 

and Library Services


Lucie Lanctôt 
Manager, 

Facilities Management Services


Bruce Williams 
Manager, Information Services 
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Staff 

Collections 
Services 
Robert Alvo 
Roger Baird 
Darlene Balkwill 
Micheline Beaulieu-Bouchard 
Dominique Dufour 
Margaret Feuerstack 
Jean-Marc Gagnon 
Melanie Gaudet 
François Génier 
Michel Gosselin 
Fiona Graham 
Jennifer Horne-McKaig 
April Hurst 
Clayton Kennedy 
David Kerr 
Mathew Kulka 
Marcie Kwidt 
Sylvie Laframboise 
Nathalie Martin 
Alan McDonald 
Garnet Muething 
Michel Picard 
Judith Price 
Michael Shchepanek 
Kieran Shepherd 
Laura Smyk 
Michèle Steigerwald 
Don Stoffregen 
Robert Waller 
Pak Yau Wong 

Communications 
Services 
Christine Bassil 
Agnès Chartrand 
Lucille Fournier 
Rachel Gervais 
Annie Leblond 
Elizabeth McCrea 
Daniel Smythe 
Laura Sutin 

Community 
Services 
Suzanne Allyson-Morello 
Marie-Claude Asselin 
Robyn Auld 
Luc Barbe 
Nathalie Benoit 
Anik Boileau 
Mara Bouse 
Ralph Brassard 
Sherri Brown 
Stéphanie Brunelle 
Nathalie Carter 

Nathalie Cellard Development Renewal IT & Library 
John Constantinesco and Fundraising Wilda Corcoran Services 
Tara Conroy Services Joanne Desnoyers Anne Marie Barter 
Guy Cousineau Nadia Arbach Marie Lasnier Andrée Bisson 
Jason Coyle Marissa Croteau Gerry Potozny Chantal Dussault 
Annick Deblois Cécile Julien Myriam Lacasse 
Charles Diotte Katherine Julien Financial Greg Smith 
Marc Diotte Nicole Lefebvre Management Patrice Stevenson 
Lina Duguay Risë Paquette Services Ted Sypniewski 
Natalie Fatica Davina Pearl Tony Badmus Michael Wayne 
Cindy Fedoryk Josée Quenneville Stéphane Charlebois James Wilkinson 
Elizabeth Fortin Lise Rochon Guy Durand 
Julie Gardner Susan Swan France Fabien Research Services 
Nathalie Gould Diane Faucher Dr. Susan Aiken 
Patrick Haag Directorate Max Joly Noel Alfonso 
Laetitia Habimana Irene Byrne Lynne Ladouceur Dr. Robert Anderson 
Kristen Hayes Joanne DiCosimo Thérèse Mitrow Annie Archambault 
Mary Ellen Herbert Maureen Dougan Liane Monette Lory Beaudoin 
Matthew Joseph Colin Eades Jacynthe Roy Alain S. Bélanger 
Mireille Khacho Carole LeBlond Anne Breau 
John Kubicek Louise Winter Human Resources Dr. Brian W. Coad 
Martin Laforest Management Dr. Kathleen Conlan 
Stephanie Lalonde Exhibition Services Laurie Consaul 
Annie Langlois Services Louisa Bouchard Dr. Stephen Cumbaa 
Doris Launier Stuart Baatnes Kim De Grandpré Dr. Hugh Danks 
Kevin Lapointe Carol Campbell Roger Demers Richard Day 
Guy Larocque Jacek Czapiewski Denyse Jomphe Catherine Dumouchel 
Diane Lemieux Sheila Daunt Antoinette Martin Dr. Jaelyn Eberle 
Stephanie MacDiarmid Katia Déry Katja Rodriguez Dr. Scott Ercit 
Gabriel Mailhot Nicole Dupuis Suzanne Sauvé Robert Gault 
Lucia Martinez Jonathan Ferrabee Lucille Thomas Dr. Lynn Gillespie 
Claire-Barbara McArthur Gerben Gazendam Susan Goods 
Morgan Merritt Tyler Klein Information Dr. Mark Graham 
Diane Mongrain Caroline Lanthier Services Dr. Joel Grice 
Cynthia Moore Robert Leuenberger Janice Bishop Paul Hamilton 
Charles Nezan Barbara Nije Paul Bloskie Ed Hendrycks 
Geneviève Ouellet Marie-Claire Payette Nancy Boase Jean Lauriault 
Lyanne Payette Monty Reid Anne-Marie Botman Jacqueline Madill 
Allison Peckham Leo Saccu Francine Bouvier-Goodman Kristina Makkay 
Barbora Pek Mary Rose Saccu Fiona Currie Dr. André Martel 
Diane Picard Christiane Saumur Peter Frank Dr. Alison Murray 
Patrick Poirier Joanne Sparks Jodie Lane Donna Naughton 
Gilles Proulx Karla Tankovic Richard Martin Paula Piilonen 
Julien Racette Annie Thérien Elaine McIntosh Dr. Michel Poulin 
Johanne Robin Carol Thiessen Nicole Paquette Dr. Claude Renaud 
Nathalie Rodrigue Stacey Tidman Kathleen Quinn Ralph Rowe 
Jacky Rollin Lorna Sierolawski Dr. Kathleen Stewart 
Jennifer-Lee Scott Facilities Annie St-Jean Dr. Xiao-Chun Wu 
Louis-René Sénéchal Management Bruce Williams 
Randi Shulman Services 
Samantha Somers Darrell Daniels 
Dahlia Tanasoiu André Fortier In memoriam: CMN remembers and acknowledges 
Loreto Urquiza Heather Hutt the contribution of former colleague Earl Godfrey 
Angèle Verrier Mario Lacasse who passed away in 2002. As curator of ornithology 
Sonya Vichnevtskaia Lucie Lanctôt for over 30 years until his retirement in 1977, 
Michael Yates Martin Leclerc Godfrey was recognized as Canada's foremost 

Nelson Mercier authority on birds. He wrote the seminal guidebook, 
Manon Miller The Birds of Canada, which has sold more than 
Patrick Minns 300,000 copies. 
Jacques Plante 
Sylvie Williams 

24 T R A N S I T I O N  



1551_CMN_AR_ENG  6/27/03  1:56 PM  Page 27

Volunteers 

Volunteers make an invaluable contribution to the work of the Museum.


This year 244 members of the community contributed over 12,000 hours to support 


CMN programming, chiefly in Collections, Research and Community Services.


Victor Adomaitis Rod Docking Julia Laporte Laura Munn-Rivard Mew Symons 
Clémence Ahounou Heather Donnelly Heidi Larkin Terry Murdie Ronny Tan 
Anna Albovias Heather Dowell Bethan Lawson Judith Murillo Adam Tasca 
Henry Alvarez Alexi Dumouchel Ricou Connie Lee Beatrice Murray Claudie Tellier 
Melba Angell Maryse Duquette Joanne Lee Arlene Neilson John Tener 
Lorne Atchison Frank Dyson Justin Lee Julie Nives-Nivou Marie-Andrée Tougas-Tellier 
Jennifer Baker Phyllis Esdon Judy Leeson Sarah Noble Linda Toy 
Catherine Barrière Gratton Naweera Farooqui Diane Lemieux Michelle Nugent Ted Tozer 
Alyssa Baxter Natalie Fatica Hélène Lepage Brita Isabel Oeding Janelle Tremblay 
Claire Beaulieu-Dionne Heidi Fluegel Suzanne Lépine Julia Offer Sébastien Tremblay 
Patrick Begin Matthieu Gagnon Isabelle Lesage Michel Paradis Carole Treverton 
Michelle Béland Shanshan Gao Helen Li Anisa Patel Olga Trichtchenlco 
Adi Birkhan Mélanie Gaudet Barbara Liddy Dale Patten Daphnée Turcotte 
Celia Bodnar Michèle Gauthier Monika Lieberenz Emma Peacocke Colette Vachon 
Catherine Borza Huguette Gavrel Heather Lindsay Jane Pearce Wayne Van De Graaff 
Diane Boucher Carol German Kathleen Liver Frances Pearl Deanne Van Rooyen 
Irène Boucher Mélinda-Ashley Gilhen Aurora Loiselle-Urquiza Jessica Pinkham Rachael VanRijn 
Colin Bowen Jessica Gillies Elizabeth Long Jacinthe Plourde-Joly Maria Vogel 
Pat Bowen Martin Glogier Nicole Lupien Marie-Louise Poland Marie-Claire Voyer-Messier 
Laura Bridgeman Mireille Godbout Keran Ma Laurie Pollock Mladen Vukic 
Emma Brittain Boisvert Virginia Grant Mollie MacCormac Carole Potts Bo Wang 
Carole Brown Chantal Gray Patrick MacKinnon Susanna Presutti Clare Wang 
Jonathan Bura Jessica Guo Chady Makela Elisha Pruner Margot Watt 
Phil Campbell Nathalie Hallal Jordon Mallon Shuang Ye (Lucia) Qiao Geneviève Wilson 
Isabelle Campin Tyler Ham Pong Rohit Mann Marissa Quigley Laura Wilson 
Daniel Cayley-Daoust Tom Hamilton Marie-Hélène Marleau Clifford Quince Anne Wimberley 
Bryan Cerda Adeline Hardie Stephanie Martel Joyce Quince Joanna Wojcik 
Monica César Gail Harington Nadia Martin Saquiba Rahman Eric Wong 
Dominique Chalifaux Stephanie Hjararson Pat Martin Nicholas Rivard Roy Wood 
Harold Chase Lynda Holleman Philip Martin Susan Robinson Elizabeth Woodbury 
Julie Chateauvert Jennifer Horne-McKaig Jan Mayes Violette Routhier Jiayi Zhou 
Marc Chouinard Claudia Houde Hannah Mayne Joan Rowed Michelle Zhou 
Alexandra Chowaniec Ran Huang Mary Lynn McCauley Stéphanie Roy 
Jessica Christopher John Hunt Brent McClelland Yvon Roy 
Ersen Cogulu April Hurst Christine McClelland Susan Rust 
Christian Comeau Betty Anne Hurst Mana McDonald Eglee Sanchez de Barrios 
Maureen Comerford Bronwyn Hutton Alice McGill Adam Saulis 
Tara Conroy Candice Johnson George McIlhinney Jo Saunders 
Wendy Côté Tyler Jordan Amanda McKenzie Yvonne Seiers 
Madeleine Craig Tiffany Jubb Elizabeth McMillan Nathalie Sempels 
Andrea Davidson Sol Kaiman Nina Mehra Tania Sendel 
Stephen Davis Lynn Kaplansky Tania Mendoza Jackie Shabsove 
Betty Dawson Carmel Kasper Nicholas Meng Cheshta Sharma 
Guillaume de Brouwer Ruth Koch-Schulte Vivian Menzies Rachel Shen 
Nicole De Silva Katie Kurys Jane Merlin Joyce Sinclair 
Jason Dean Judy Kwan Philip Miles Chelsea Soderholm 
Gabrielle Denhez Danielle LaBrèche Hussain Mohamed Kristen Soo 
Anthony Denton Jacqueline Lafontaine Susan Montsion Susann Stolze 
Gretchen Denton Yolin Lafrenière Daniel Mooney AbuBark Subedar 
Jonas Depatie Maggie Lalonde Chantel Moore Jo Sullivan 
Mélanie Deslauriers Caroline Lam David Moore Danuta Swiecicka 
Mireille Deussing Clarisse Lamoureux Eve Moore Shuaib Syed 
Véronique Diotte Kether Langdon Isabel Muir David Symons 

C A N A D I A N  M U S E U M  O F  N A T U R E  25 



1551_CMN_AR_ENG  6/27/03  1:56 PM  Page 28

26 T R A N S I T I O N  

R E S E A R C H
C o m m u n i c a t i n g  

R E S U LT S  

Ph
ot

o:
 H

ar
qu

ai
l P

ho
to

gr
ap

hy
 



1551_CMN_AR_ENG  6/27/03  1:56 PM  Page 29

Research Services and 
Collections Services Staff 

CMN staff published 47 articles in refereed journals – which have other scientists 

review all articles submitted before they are accepted for publication – and 22 in 

non-refereed publications, nine reports and 46 other papers. A complete list follows 

(names in boldface are CMN staff members): 

Refereed Publications 
Aiken, S.G. and R.A. Buck. 2002. Aquatic leaves and regenera­

tion of the last year’s straw in the Arctic Grass, Arctophila fulva

Canadian Field-Naturalist 16: 81-86.


Anderson, R.S. 2002. The Dryophthoridae of Costa Rica and

Panamá: Checklist with new synonymy and descriptions of new

species of Cactophagus, Mesocordylus, Metamasius and

Rhodobaenus (Coleoptera; Curculionoidea). Zootaxa 80: 1-94.

Available at http://www.mapress.com/zootaxa/2002f/zt00080.pdf.


Anderson, R.S. 2002. Chapter 125. Nemonychidae. pp. 692-694,

In, Arnett, Jr., R. H., M. C. Thomas and P. Skelley, Eds. American

Beetles Volume 2. CRC Press.


Anderson, R.S. 2002. Chapter 127. Belidae. pp. 701-702, In,

Arnett, Jr., R. H., M. C. Thomas and P. Skelley, Eds. American

Beetles Volume 2. CRC Press.


Anderson, R.S. 2002. Chapter 130. Ithyceridae. pp. 720-721,

In, Arnett, Jr., R. H., M. C. Thomas and P. Skelley, Eds. American

Beetles Volume 2. CRC Press.


Anderson, R.S. 2002. Chapter 131. Curculionidae. pp. 722-815,

In, Arnett, Jr., R. H., M. C. Thomas and P. Skelley, Eds. American

Beetles Volume 2. CRC Press.


Anderson, R.S. and D. G. Kissinger. 2002. Chapter 129.

Brentidae. pp. 711-719, In, Arnett, Jr., R. H., M. C. Thomas and P.

Skelley, Eds. American Beetles Volume 2. CRC Press.


Coad, B.W. and J. Gilhen. 2002. A rare leucistic Spiny Dogfish,

Squalus acanthias, from the Bay of Fundy, Nova Scotia. Canadian

Field-Naturalist, 116(1):120-121, 1 figure.


Najafpour, N. and B.W. Coad. 2002. Ichthyootoxism in Barbus

luteus from Iran (Actinopterygii: Cyprinidae). Zoology in the

Middle East 26:129-131, 1 figure.


Cumbaa, S.L. and H.-P. Schultze. 2002. An early Devonian

(Emsian) acanthodian from the Bear Rock Formation, Anderson

River, Northwest Territories, Canada. Canadian Journal of Earth

Sciences 39: 1457-1465.


Danks, H.V. 2002. Modification of adverse conditions by insects.

Oikos 99(1): 10-24.


Danks, H.V. 2002. The range of insect dormancy responses.

European Journal of Entomology 99 (2): 127-142.


Ercit, T.S. 2002. Lyndochite revisited – a cautionary note on 

discreditations. Canadian Mineralogist 40: 1211-1214.


Ercit, T.S. Foord, E.E. and Fitzpatrick, J.J. 2002. Ordoñezite from

the Theodoso Soto Mine, Sapioris, Durango, Mexico: New data

and structure refinement. Canadian Mineralogist 40: 1207-1210.


Ercit, T.S. 2002. The mess that is allanite. Canadian Mineralogist

40: 1411-1420. 

Černý, P., Masau, M., Ercit, T.S., Chapman, R. and Chackowsky, 
L.E. 2001. Stannite and kesterite from the Peerless pegmatite, 
Black Hills, South Dakota, USA. Journal of the Czech Geological 
Society 46: 27-33. 

Taner, M.F., Ercit, T.S. and Gault, R.A. 2002. Mineralogy of the 
Matagami and Chibougamau vanadium deposits, Abitibi, Québec. 
In: Taner, M.F., Riveros, P.A., Dutrizac, J.E., Gattrell, M. and Perron, 
L., Eds., Vanadium – Geology, Processing and Applications, 
Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum: 37-48. 

Groat, L.A., Marshall, D.D., Giuliani, G., Murphy, D.C., Piercey, S.J., 
Jambor, J.L., Mortensen, J.K., Ercit, T.S., Gault, R.A., Mattey, 
D.P., Schwarz, D., Maluski, H., Wise, M.A., Wengzynowski, W. and 
Eaton, D.W. 2002. Mineralogical and geochemical study of the 
Regal Ridge emerald showing, southeastern Yukon. Canadian 
Mineralogist 40: 1313-1338. 

Hobson, K.A., Fisk, A., Karnovsky, N., Holst, M., Gagnon, J.-M. 
and Fortier, M. 2002. A stable isotope (∂13C, ∂15N) model for the 
North Water food web: implications for evaluating trophodynamics 
and the flow of energy and contaminants. Deep-Sea Research II 
49: 5131-5150.


Larsen, A.O. and R.A. Gault 2002. Calcio-ancylite-(Ce) from

syenite pegmatite at Tvedalen, Oslo Region, Norway. Neues

Jahrbuch für Mineralogie (9): 411-423.


Génier, F. and F. Vaz-de-Mello. 2002. A review of Arrow’s types

of Trichillum and Pedaridium with description of two new

species of Pedaridium (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae, Ateuchini).

Acta Zoologia Cracoviensia 45(2): 185-196.


Gillespie, L.J. 2002. Euphorbiaceae. In S.A. Mori, G. Cremers, 
C.A. Cracie, J-J. de Granville, S.V. Heald, M. Hoff, and J.D. Mitchell, 
Eds., Guide to the Vascular Plants of Central French Guiana, 
Part 2. Dicotyledons. Memoirs of the New York Botanical Garden 
76(2): 266-298. 

Hollowell, T., Gillespie, L.J. Funk, V.A. and Kelloff, C.L. 2003. 
Smithsonian Plant Collections, Guyana: 1989-1991, Lynn J. 
Gillespie. Contributions from the United States National 
Herbarium 44. 104 pp. 

Hawthorne, F.C., Cooper, M.A., Grice, J.D., Roberts, A.C. and 
Hubbard, N. 2002. Bobkingite, Cu2+

5Cl2(OH)8(H2O)2, a  new mineral 
from New Cliffe Quarry, Stanton-under-Bardon, Leicestershire. 
Mineralogical Magazine 66: 310-311. 

Schindler, M., Hawthorne, F.C., Huminicki, D.M.C., Haynes, P., 
Grice, J.D., and Evans, Jr., H.T., 2003. Bobjonesite, V4+O(SO4)(H2O)3. 
A new mineral species from Temple Mountain, Emery County, 
Utah, USA Canadian Mineralogist 41: 83-90. 

Huminicki, D.M., Hawthorne, F.C., Grice, J.D., Roberts, A.C., and 
Jambor, J. 2003. Nikischerite, a new mineral from Huanuni mine, 
Dalence province, Oruro department, Bolivia. Mineralogical 
Record 34 155-158. 

Johnsen, O., Grice, J.D. and Gault, R.A. 2003. Ferrokentbrooksite, 
a new member of the eudialyte group, from Mont Saint-Hilaire, 
Quebec: Canadian Mineralogist 41: 55-60. 

Grice, J.D., Gault, R.A. and Van Velthuizen, J. 2002. 
Walkerite: a new borate mineral species in an evaporate 
sequence from Sussex, New Brunswick. Canadian Mineralogist 
40: 1675-1686. 
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Hawthorne, F.C., Cooper, M.A., Grice, J.D., Roberts, A.C., 
Key, C.L., Cook, W.R. Jr. and Lau, R.J. 2001. Hubeite, 
Ca2Mn2+Fe3+[Si4O12(OH)](H2O)2, a  new mineral from Funsen, 
Hubei, China. Mineralogical Record 33: 465-472. 

Hawthorne, F.C., Cooper, M.A., Grice, J.D., Roberts, A.C. and 
Hubbard, N. 2002. Bobkingite, Cu2+

5Cl2(OH)8(H2O)2, a  new mineral 
from New Cliffe Quarry, Stanton-under-Bardon, Leicestershire. 
Mineralogical Magazine 66: 310-311. 

Grice, J.D. and F.C. Hawthorne. 2002. New data on meliphanite, 
Ca4(Na,Ca)4Be4AlSi7O24(F,O)4. Canadian Mineralogist 40: 971-980. 

Grice, J.D. 2002. A solution to the crystal structures of bismutite 
and beyerite. Canadian Mineralogist 40: 693-698. 

Chevalier, P., Pilote, R., Leclerc, J.-M., DeBlois, C., Hamilton, P. 
et Poulin, M. 2002. Les cyanobactéries (algues bleues) toxiques 
et les microcystines dans le bassin versant de la rivière Yamaska 
(Québec) et le risque à la santé publique. Vecteur Environnement 
35: 56-65.


Bousfield, E. L. and E. A. Hendrycks. 2002. The talitroidean

amphipod family Hyalidae revised, with emphasis on the North

Pacific fauna: systematics and distributional ecology.

Amphipacifica 3(3): 17-134.


Shih, Chang-tai and E.A. Hendrycks. 2003. A new species 

and new records of the genus Vibilia Milne Edwards, 1830

(Amphipoda: Hyperiidea: Vibiliidae) occurring in the eastern

Pacific Ocean. Journal of Natural History 37(3): 253-296.


Beaudet, A., Tremblay E. et Martel, A.L. 2002. Inventaire 

des moules d’eau douce dans les rivières Kouchibouguac,

Kouchibouguacis et Black du Parc national Kouchibouguac,

Nouveau-Brunswick. Rapport 006, Décembre 2002. Ecosystem

Monitoring and Data Reports. Parks Canada.


Murray, A.M. and K.M. Stewart. 2002. Phylogenetic 

relationships of the African genera Alestes and Brycinus

(Teleostei, Characiformes, Alestidae). Canadian Journal of

Zoology 80:1887-1899.


Murray, A.M. 2002. Lower pharyngeal jaw of a cichlid fish

(Actinopterygii; Labroidei) from an early Oligocene site in the

Fayum, Egypt. Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology 22(2):453-455.


Piilonen, P.C., McDonald, A.M. and Lalonde, A.E. 2003: Insights

into the astrophyllite group II: Crystal chemistry. Canadian

Mineralogist 42: 1-26.


Piilonen, P.C., Lalonde, A.E., McDonald, A.M., Gault, R.A., and

Larsen, A.O. 2003. Insights into astrophyllite group minerals I:

Nomenclature, composition and development of a standardized

general formula. Canadian Mineralogist 42: 27-54.


Poulin, M. and D.M. Williams. 2002. Conservation of diatom

biodiversity: a perspective In: Proceedings of the 15th International

Diatom Symposium, pp. 161-171 (Edited by J. John). A.R.G.

Gantner Verlag K.G., Liechtenstein, 520 pp.


Poulin, M. 2002. Lectotypification of previously described

diatoms from marine coastal habitats (Quebec). Diatom 

Research 17: 465-466.


Renaud, C.B. 2002. The Muskellunge, Esox masquinongy, as 

a host for the Silver Lamprey, Ichthyomyzon unicuspis, in the

Ottawa River, Ontario/Québec. Canadian Field-Naturalist 116(3):

433-440.


Stewart, K.M. 2003. Fossil fish remains from Mio-Pliocene

deposits at Lothagam, Kenya. In Lothagam: The Dawn of

Humanity in Eastern Africa. Eds. M.G.Leakey and J.M.Harris,

pp.75-115, New York, Columbia University Press.


Stewart, K.M. 2002. Past and Present Zooarchaeology in 
Canada. Archaeofauna 11:147-157. 

Waller, R. 2002. A risk model for collection preservation. 
International Council of Museums, Committee for Conservation, 
Preprints of the 13th Triennial Meeting, Rio de Janeiro, 2002, pp. 
102-107. 

Sato, Li, T., C. and Wu, X-C. 2003. Restudy of Bishanopliosaurus 
youngi, a  freshwater plesiosaur from Chongqing. Vertebrata 
PalAsiatica 41(1):17-33. 

Non-Refereed Publications 
Aiken, S.G. 2002. Brassicaceae of the Canadian Arctic 
Archipelago. A joint project with Dr. Peter Scoot, Memorial 
University of Newfoundland. 

Coad, B.W. and Y. Keivany. 2002. Aphanius vladykovi Coad, 
1988 “Zagros pubfish” (sic) mahi-e gour-e khari. Skandinaviska 
Killi Sällskapet Killibladet (2):3-6, 1 figure. In Swedish. 

Coad, B.W. and Y. Keivany. 2002. Reviews of “Atlas of Iranian 
Fishes: Gilan Inland Waters. K. Abbasi, A. Valipour, D. Talebi 
Haghighi, A. Sarpanah, and Sh. Nezami. 1999. The Inland Water 
Fishes of Iran. A. Abdoli. 2000. A Guide to the Fauna of Iran. 
E. Firouz. 2000. Freshwater Fishes of Iran. H. Mohammadian. 
1999.” Copeia (4):1164-1166. 

Conlan, K. E. and E. Carmack. 2002. Students on Ice cruise 
afford opportunity for research at Deception Island. Newsletter 
for the Canadian Antarctic Research Network 14: 8-12. 

Conlan, K. E. 2002. Serendipity and where it might lead: opportu­
nities for studying in the Arctic and Antarctic. Science: Next Wave. 
http://nextwave.sciencemag.org/cgi/content/full/2002/02/25/1. 

Conlan, K. E. 2002. Our Students on Ice collections from 
Antarctica. Published on CD and on http://www.studentsonice.com. 

Conlan, K. E. 2002. Our Students on Ice collections from the 
Arctic. Published on http://www.studentsonice.com. 

Conlan, K. E. 2002. SCAR Report – Life Sciences Standing 
Scientific Group. Newsletter for the Canadian Antarctic Research 
Network 15: 8. 

16

Cumbaa, S.L., Brown, M.W. and White, B.N. 2002. 
Zooarchaeological and molecular perspectives on Basque whaling in 

th century Labrador. Canadian Zooarchaeology/Zooarchéologie 
canadienne 20: 6-15. 

Danks, H.V. 2002. Biological Survey of Canada (Terrestrial 
Arthropods) Survey Report. Bulletin of the Entomological Society 
of Canada 34(3): 124-128. 
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Danks, H.V. 2002. Biological Survey of Canada (Terrestrial 
Arthropods) Survey Report. Bulletin of the Entomological Society 
of Canada 35(1): 55-58. 

Danks, H.V. Editor. 2002. Newsletter of the Biological Survey of

Canada (Terrestrial Arthropods) 21(2): 41-77.


Danks, H.V. Editor. 2003. Newsletter of the Biological Survey of

Canada (Terrestrial Arthropods) 22(1): 1-36.


Danks, H.V. Editor. 2003. Arthropods of Canadian Grasslands

No. 9. 35 pp.


Ercit, T.S. 2002. Global database of pegmatite localities. Journal

of Pegmatology 1(1) [http://www.pegmatology.com/table_of_

contents.htm].


Graham, M. 2002. Museum Update/Bilan du Musée. Bulletin of

the Canadian Society of Zoologists 33(3): 22-23.


Grice, J.D. and G. Ferraris. 2002. New minerals approved in 
2001 by the Commission on New Minerals and Mineral Names, 
International Mineralogical Association. Canadian Mineralogist, 
40, 981-988. Also printed in European Journal of Mineralogy, 
Mineralogical Magazine, Mineralogical Record, Mineralogy and 
Petrology, Schweizerische Mineralogische und Petrographische 
Mitteilungen, Proceedings of the Russian Mineralogical Society 
and Boletín de la Sociedad Española Mineralogía. 

Morales, E.A. and P.B. Hamilton, 2002. 7th NAWQA Taxonomy 
Workshop on Harmonization of Algal Taxonomy. Report No. 
02-21. Patrick Center for Environmental Research, ANSP, 
Philadelphia, PA. 36 pp. (contains 17 plates). 

Pick F.R., Hamilton, P.B. and Ley, L.M. 2002. Phytoplankton 
biomass, composition and size distribution of Kootenay Lake, 
B.C. following experimental fertilization. Year 10. Kootenay Lake 
Ferilization Project Data Report. Prepared for the Fisheries Branch 
of the British Columbia Ministry of the Environment. 14pp. 

Poulin, M. 2002. 17th International Diatom Symposium, Ottawa, 
Canada, 25-31 August 2002. Programme. Canadian Museum of 
Nature, Ottawa. 37 pp. 

Poulin, M. 2002. 17th International Diatom Symposium, Ottawa, 
Canada, 25-31 August 2002. Book of Abstracts. Canadian 
Museum of Nature, Ottawa. 170 pp. 

Stewart, K.M. 2003. Editor’s notes. Canadian Zooarchaeology 20:1. 

Reports and Confidential Documents 
Danks, H.V. 2003. Taking stock of the Biological Survey 2003:

Background, priorities and operations. 31 pp.


Danks, H.V. 2003. Scientific priorities of the Biological Survey 

of Canada (Terrestrial Arthropods). 37 pp.


Graham, M. 2002. The Implementation Plan for the 2003-2008

Strategic Plan of the Canadian Museum of Nature. Internal

Report to the Senior Management Committee. (M. Graham,

Chairperson of planning committee). 35 p.


Hamilton, P.B., Ley, L.M., Alloway, C., Pick, F.R. and Poulin, M.

2002. Plankton densities and biomass in the Rideau River,

Ottawa River, Constance Lake, Mud Lake and McKay Lake during

the year 2001. Research Division, Centre for Aquatic Biology and

Environmental Research (CABER), Canadian Museum of Nature.

Technical Report 2002/1: 1-311.


Beaudet, A., Cloutier, R., Tremblay, E., and Martel, A. 2002.

Contrasting communities of freshwater mussels (Unionidae) in two

adjacent rivers at Kouchibouguac National Park, New Brunswick,

Parks Canada. Technical report.


Stoermer, E.F. and M. Poulin. 2001. Report of a workshop 

on “New technology – Initiatives and collaboration”. In 16th


International Diatom Symposium, 25 August – 1 September

2000, Athens and Aegean Islands Proceedings 2001 (edited by 

A. Economou-Amilli), pp. 599-601. University of Athens, Greece. 

Waller, R. 2003. Results from Expert Advisory Committee at 
the Society for Risk Analysis Conference, New Orleans, USA 
December 2002. A report to the CCI-CMN “Preservation Risk

Assessment Tool” project. 29 pp.


Waller, R. 2003. Risk Variable Estimation Strategies. A report to

the CCI-CMN “Preservation Risk Assessment Tool” project. 32 pp. 

Waller, R. and G. Muething. 2003. Evaluating Causes of 
Changes in Risks to Collections. A report to the CCI-CMN 
“Preservation Risk Assessment Tool” project. 16pp. 

Other 
Alfonso, N. 2002. Review of Introduction to Biometry. Pierre

Jolicoeur. Biodiversity 3(2): 44-45.


Alfonso, N. and B.W. Coad. 2002. Donald Evan McAllister 23

August 1934 – 17 June 2001. Poster presented at 2002 Annual

Meeting/Réunion annuelle, CCFFR/CCRP-2002 (Canadian

Conference for Fisheries Research/Conférence canadienne de la

recherche sur les pêches), 3-5 January/janvier, Empire Landmark

Hotel, Vancouver, British Columbia.


Anderson, R.S. 2002. The Cutting Edge: Conserving Wildlife in
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Ottawa, Ontario 

Gerry Potoczny, Ottawa, Ontario 

Michael Potter, Ottawa, Ontario 

Judith Price, Ottawa, Ontario 

Gilles Proulx, Gatineau, Quebec 

Josée and Michel Quenneville, 
Rockland, Ontario 

Adam Quinan, North York, Ontario 

Monty Reid, Luskville, Quebec 

John W. Reynolds, Kitchener, Ontario 

Lise Rochon, Gatineau, Quebec 

Nathalie Rodrigue, Ottawa, Ontario 

Katja Rodriguez, Ottawa, Ontario 

Roger Rosentreter, Bureau of Land 
Management, Boise, Idaho 
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Raymond A. Saumure, Shark Reef at 
Mandalay Bay, Las Vegas, Nevada 

Suzanne Sauvé, Ottawa, Ontario 

Germain Savard, Chicoutimi, Quebec 

Louis-René Sénéchal, Gatineau, Quebec 

Michael J. Shchepanek, Ottawa, Ontario 

David Sheahan, Toronto, Ontario 

Karen Sheikh, Ottawa, Ontario 

Kieran M. Shepherd, Ottawa, Ontario 

Sheraton Ottawa Hotel & Towers, 
Ottawa, Ontario 

Lorna Sierolawski, Ottawa, Ontario 

Greg Smith, Ottawa, Ontario 

Laura Smyk, Sainte-Cécile-de-Masham, 
Quebec 

Dan Smythe, Ottawa, Ontario 

Sarah Spaulding, California Academy of 
Sciences, San Francisco, California 

Toby Spribille, University of Göttingen, 
Göttingen, Germany 

Michael Sproule, Chelsea, Quebec 

Larry L. St. Clair, Brigham Young 
University, Provo, Utah 

Archie M. Stalker, Ottawa, Ontario 

Patricia Stanley Beck, Saskatoon, 
Saskatchewan 

Michèle Steigerwald, Ottawa, Ontario 

Patrice Stevenson, Ottawa, Ontario 

Jo Stinson, The Art of Jewellery, 
Ottawa, Ontario 

Surgenor Pontiac Buick Ltd., 
Ottawa, Ontario


Laura Sutin, Ottawa, Ontario


Dahlia Tanasoiu, Ottawa, Ontario


Anders Tehler, Swedish Museum of

Natural History, Stockholm, Sweden


Carol Thiessen, Wakefield, Quebec


Lucille Thomas, Gatineau, Quebec


John Thomson, University of Wisconsin,

Madison, Wisconsin


Stacey Eliza Tidman, Ottawa, Ontario


Dr. Einar Timdal, University of Oslo,

Oslo, Norway


Robert M. Timm, University of Kansas,

Lawrence, Kansas


Tor Tønsberg, University of Bergen,

Bergen, Norway 

Karen Van Sacker, Sydney, Australia 

Vanleek Hill and District Nature 
Society, Vanleek Hill, Ontario 

R. Robert Waller, Ottawa, Ontario 

Dr. Clifford Wetmore, University of 
Minnesota, St. Paul, Minnesota 

Bruce Williams, Ottawa, Ontario 

Louise Winter, Russell, Ontario 

Pak Yau Wong, Ottawa, Ontario 
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Collaborators 

Collaborators are individuals or organizations such as universities, research institutes, 

museums or government agencies that work with CMN on a range of projects including 

research activities, programming and exhibitions. These affiliations are part of CMN’s 

regional, national and international network, allowing the Museum to share its 

resources with others and enhance its effectiveness in connecting people with nature. 

International 
Alfred Wegener Institute, 
Bremerhaven, Germany 

American Museum of Natural 
History, New York, New York 

Baylor University, Waco, Texas 

California Academy of Sciences, San 
Francisco, California 

California State University, Long 
Beach, California


Carnegie Museum, Pittsburgh,

Pennsylvania


Chinese Academy of Geological 
Sciences, Beijing, The People’s Republic 
of China 

Chinese Academy of Sciences, 
Beijing, The People’s Republic of China 

Chongqing History Museum, 
Chongqing, The People’s Republic of China, 

CineMuse, Inc., New York, New York 

Cornell University, Ithaca, New York 

CSIRO Entomology, Canberra, Australia, 

Department of Fish and Wildlife, 
Fairbanks, Alaska 

EARTH, Costa Rica 

Environment Committee of Ottawa 
South (ECOS), Ottawa, Ontario 

Ethiopian Ministry of Science, 
Addis Abada, Ethiopia 

The Field Museum, Chicago, Illinois 

Fort Hays State University, Hays, Kansas 

George Washington University, 
Washington, DC 

Global Biodiversity Information 
Facility, Copenhagen, Denmark 

Global Taxonomy Initiative, 
Ottawa, Ontario 

Göteborg University, Göteborg, Sweden 

Ilinois Natural History Survey, 
Champaign, Illinois


Illinois State Museum, Springfield,

Illinois


Institut Royal des Sciences 
Naturelles de Belgique, 
Brussells, Belgium 

Instituto Nacional de Biodiversidad, 
Santo Domingo, Costa Rica 

International Association of 
Museum Facilities Administrators 
(IAMFA), Washington, DC 

IUCN - World Conservation Union, 
Ottawa, Ontario


Laboratoire Arago, Banyuls-sur-mer,

France


Moss Landing Marine Laboratories, 
Moss Landing, California 

Murdoch University, Perth, Western 
Australia 

Museo de Historia Natural de la 
Ciudad de Mexico, Mexico City, Mexico 

Museo de La Plata, La Plata, Argentina 

Muséum d’histoire naturelle de 
Lyon, Lyon, France 

Museum für Naturkunde der 
Humboldt-Universität, Berlin, Germany 

Muséum national d’histoire 
naturelle, Paris, France 

National Museum of Kenya, 
Nairobi, Kenya 

National Science Foundation, 
Washington, DC 

National Science Museum, 
Tokyo, Japan 

Natural History Museum, 
Los Angeles, California 

The Natural History Museum, 
London, United Kingdom 

New York University, New York,

New York


Northwest University, Xi-an,

The People’s Republic of China


PanArctic Flora Project, Oslo, Norway


Pontificia Universidad Católica del

Ecuador, Quito, Ecuador


Royal Botanic Garden Herbarium,

Kew, London, United Kingdom 

Rutgers University, New Brunswick, 
New Jersey 

San Diego Natural History Museum, 
San Diego, California 

Scripps Institution of 
Oceanography, San Diego, California 

S. Sharnoff, Berkeley, California 

Smithsonian Institute, Washington, DC 

Society for the Preservation of 
Natural History Collections, 
Washington, DC 

Southampton Oceanography 
Centre, Southampton, United Kingdom 

St. Lawrence University, Canton, 
New York 

Stanford University, Stanford, California 

State University of New York, 
Stony Brook, New York 

United Nations Association in 
Canada, Ottawa, Ontario 

Université de Marne la Vallée, 
Marne-la-Vallée Cedex 2, France 

Université de Nantes, Nantes, France 

University of Alabama, Alabama 

University of Barcelona, 
Barcelona, Spain


University of California, Los Angeles,

California


University of Copenhagen, 
Copenhagen, Denmark 

University of Kansas, Lawrence, Kansas 

University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, 
Michigan 

University of North Carolina, 
Durham, North Carolina 

University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway 

Western Washington University, 
Bellingham, Washington 

Wetlands International, Wageningen,

The Netherlands


Yale University Press, New Haven,

Connecticut


Zoological Museum, Copenhagen,

Denmark
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National 
ADCOM Videoconferencing, Ottawa, 
Ontario 

Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada, 
Ottawa, Ontario 

Alpine Gems, Kingston, Ontario 

Art Gallery of Ontario, Toronto, Ontario 

Biodôme, Montreal, Quebec 

Bird Studies Canada, Port Rowan, 
Ontario 

Canada Agriculture Museum, 
Ottawa, Ontario 

Canada and the World Pavillion, 
Ottawa, Ontario 

Canada Aviation Museum, 
Ottawa, Ontario 

Canada’s Digital Collections, 
Ottawa, Ontario 

Canada’s SchoolNet, Ottawa, Ontario 

Canadian Association for 
Conservation, Ottawa, Ontario 

Canadian Association of Principals, 
Ottawa, Ontario 

Canadian Association of Professional 
Conservators, Ottawa, Ontario 

Canadian Biodiversity Institute, 
Ottawa, Ontario 

Canadian Blood Services, 
Ottawa, Ontario 

Canadian Botanical Association, 
Guelph, Ontario 

The Canadian College of Teachers, 
Ottawa, Ontario 

Canadian Committee for IUCN, 
Toronto, Ontario 

Canadian Heritage, Ottawa, Ontario 

Canadian Museum of Civilization, 
Gatineau, Quebec 

Canadian Museum of Contemporary 
Photography, Ottawa, Ontario 

Canadian Museums Association, 
Ottawa, Ontario 

Canadian Nature Federation, 
Ottawa, Ontario 

Canadian Parks and Wilderness 
Society, Ottawa, Ontario 

Canadian Parks Partnership, 
Revelstoke, British Columbia 

Canadian Post-Secondary 
Student Leadership Conference, 
Kingston, Ontario 

Canadian Rivers Institute, 
Fredericton, New Brunswick 

Canadian Rivers Management 
Society, Ottawa, Ontario 

Canadian Society of Zoologists, 
Ottawa, Ontario 

Canadian Space Agency, 
Longueuil, Quebec 

Canadian War Museum, Ottawa, Ontario 

Canadian Wildlife Federation, 
Ottawa, Ontario 

Centre for Rural Studies and 
Enrichment, Muenster, Saskatchewan 

The Centre for Traditional 
Knowledge, Gatineau, Quebec 

Citizenship and Immigration 
Canada, Ottawa, Ontario 

Comité de Valorisation de la Rivière 
Beauport, Quebec, Quebec 

Committee on the Status of 
Endangered Wildlife in Canada 
(COSEWIC), Ottawa, Ontario 

Currency Museum of the Bank of 
Canada, Ottawa, Ontario 

Encounters with Canada, 
Ottawa, Ontario 

Entomological Society of Canada, 
Ottawa, Ontario 

Environment Canada, Gatineau, Quebec 

Expatriate Resources and Archer-
Cathro Ltd., Whitehorse, Yukon Territory 

Fisheries and Oceans Canada, 
Ottawa, Ontario 

Foreign Affairs and International 
Trade, Ottawa, Ontario 

Geological Survey of Canada, 
Ottawa, Ontario 

Girl Guides of Canada, Ottawa, Ontario 

Government of Nunavut, 
Iqaluit, Nunavut 

Government of Yukon, Heritage 
Branch, Whitehorse, Yukon Territory 

Grasslands National Park of 
Canada, Val Marie, Saskatchewan 

Human Resources Development 
Canada, Ottawa, Ontario 

Industry Canada, Ottawa, Ontario 

Insectarium de Montréal, Montreal, 
Quebec 

Institut de l’énergie et de 
l’environnement, Quebec, Quebec 

Institute on Governance, 
Ottawa, Ontario 

International Development 
Research Centre, Ottawa, Ontario 

Jardin Botanique de Montréal, 
Montreal, Quebec 

Laboratoire d’Océanographie 
Biologique 

Laurentian University, Sudbury, Ontario 

Lester B. Pearson College, 
Victoria, British Columbia 

Manitoba Museum, Winnipeg, Manitoba 

McGill University, Montreal, Quebec 

Memorial University of 
Newfoundland, St. John’s, 
Newfoundland & Labrador 

Ministère de l’Agriculture des 
Pêcheries et de l’Alimentation 
du Québec 

Morningstar Enterprises Inc., 
Kelowna, British Columbia 

National Archives and Library, 
Ottawa, Ontario 

National Arts Centre, Ottawa, Ontario 

National Gallery of Canada, 
Ottawa, Ontario 

National Research Council, 
Ottawa, Ontario 

Natural Resources Canada, 
Ottawa, Ontario 

NatureServe Canada, Ottawa, Ontario 

New Brunswick Museum, St. John, 
New Brunswick 

Nova Scotia Museum of Natural 
History, Halifax, Nova Scotia 

Nunavut Research Institute, 
Iqaluit, Nunavut 

Ontario Federation of Agriculture, 
Toronto, Ontario 

Parks Canada, Gatineau, Quebec 

Passionate Vision, Toronto, Ontario 

Pinegrove Productions, Lanark, Ontario 

Plastichange International Inc., 
Drummondville, Quebec 

Prince of Wales Northern Heritage 
Centre, Yellowknife, Norhwest Territories 

Provincial Museum of Alberta, 
Edmonton, Alberta 

Provincial Museum of 
Newfoundland and Labrador, 
St. John’s, Newfoundland and Labrador 

Queen’s University, Kingston, Ontario 

Redpath Museum, McGill University, 
Montreal, Quebec 

Royal Botanical Gardens, 
Burlington/Hamilton, Ontario 
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Royal British Columbia Museum, 
Victoria, British Columbia 

Royal Canadian Geographical 
Society, Ottawa, Ontario 

Royal Canadian Mint, Ottawa, Ontario 

Royal Ontario Museum, 
Toronto, Ontario 

Royal Saskatchewan Museum, 
Regina, Saskatchewan 

Royal Tyrrell Museum of 
Palaeontology, Drumheller, Alberta 

Saskatchewan Environment and 
Resource Management, Regina, 
Saskatchewan 

Saskatchewan Watershed Authority, 
Regina, Saskatchewan 

Scouts Canada, Ottawa, Ontario 

Sir Sanford Fleming College, 
Peterborough, Ontario 

Société de la faune et des parcs 
du Québec, Quebec, Quebec 

Students on Ice, Ottawa, Ontario 

Teck Corporation, Vancouver, 
British Columbia 

Tourism Yukon, Whitehorse, 
Yukon Territory 

Treasury Board of Canada 
Secretariat, Ottawa, Ontario 

Trent University, Peterborough, Ontario 

Tropical Conservancy of Canada, 
Ottawa, Ontario 

Université du Québec à Montréal, 
Montreal, Quebec 

Université du Québec à Rimouski, 
Rimouski, Quebec 

Université Laval, Quebec, Quebec 

University College of Cape Breton, 
Sydney, Nova Scotia 

University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta 

University of British Columbia, 
Vancouver, British Columbia 

University of Calgary, Calgary, Alberta 

University of Guelph, Guelph, Ontario 

University of Manitoba, 
Winnipeg, Manitoba


University of Moncton, Edmundston,

New Brunswick


University of New Brunswick, 
Fredericton, New Brunswick 

University of Prince Edward Island, 
Charlottetown, Prince Edward Island 

University of Regina, Regina, 
Saskatchewan 

University of Saskatchewan, 
Saskatoon, Saskatchewan 

University of Toronto, Toronto, Ontario 

University of Victoria, Victoria, 
British Columbia 

University of Waterloo, 
Waterloo, Ontario 

University of Windsor, Windsor, Ontario 

Wildlife Habitat Canada, 
Ottawa, Ontario 

Yukon Beringia Interpretive Centre, 
Whitehorse, Yukon 

Regional 
Algonquin College, Ottawa, Ontario 

Arts Kids, Ottawa, Ontario 

Ashbury College, Ottawa, Ontario 

Backyard Sanctuary Concept, 
Ottawa, Ontario 

E.L. Bousfield, Ottawa, Ontario 

British High Commission, 
Ottawa, Ontario 

Brookfield High School, Ottawa, Ontario 

Canada Science and Technology 
Museum, Ottawa, Ontario 

Canada Trust Friends of the 
Environment Foundation, 
Toronto, Ontario 

Canadian Conservation Institute, 
Ottawa, Ontario 

Carleton University, Ottawa, Ontario 

Cité étudiante Haute-Gatineau, 
Maniwaki, Quebec 

City of Ottawa, Ottawa, Ontario 

Collège St-Joseph, Gatineau, Quebec 

Conseil du loisir scientifique de 
l’Outaouais, Gatineau, Quebec 

Cumberland Heritage Village 
Museum, Ottawa, Ontario 

Dows Lake Marina, Ottawa, Ontario 

Earth Day Ottawa-Carleton, 
Ottawa, Ontario 

Eastern Ontario Biodiversity 
Museum, Kemptville, Ontario 

Eastern Ontario Model Forest, 
Kemptville, Ontario 

École secondaire Grande-Rivière, 
Gatineau, Quebec 

École secondaire Hormisdas-Gamelin, 
Gatineau, Quebec 

Écomusée de Hull, Gatineau, Quebec 

Ikebana International, Ottawa 
Centennial Chapter 120, Ottawa, Ontario 

Laurier House, Ottawa, Ontario 

Learning for a Sustainable Future, 
North York, Ontario 

Robert E. Lee, Ottawa, Ontario 

Lisgar Collegiate Institute, 
Ottawa, Ontario 

M.O.M. Printing, Ottawa, Ontario 

Merrickville-Wolford 
Environmental Advisory Committee, 
Merrickville, Ontario 

Mississippi Valley Conservation 
Authority, Lanark, Ontario 

Mountain Equipment CO-OP, 
Ottawa, Ontario 

Mutchmore Public School, 
Ottawa, Ontario 

National Capital Commission, 
Ottawa, Ontario 

Ontario Ministry of Natural 
Resources, Ottawa, Ontario 

Ontario Ministry of the 
Environment, Ottawa, Ontario 

Ontario Soil and Crop Improvement 
Association (Environmental Farm 
Plans), Guelph, Ontario 

Ottawa Botanical Garden Society, 
Ottawa, Ontario 

Ottawa Field-Naturalists’ Club, 
Ottawa, Ontario 

Ottawa International Writers 
Festival, Ottawa, Ontario 

Ottawa Regional Science Fair, 
Ottawa, Ontario 

Ottawa School of Dance, 
Ottawa, Ontario 

Parliament Hill, Ottawa, Ontario 

PikLiz, Ottawa, Ontario 

Prématernelle d’Aylmer, 
Gatineau, Quebec 

Public Works and Government 
Service, Ottawa, Ontario 

Rideau Valley Conservation 
Authority, Manotick, Ontario 

Riverside Park Community 
and Recreation Association, 
Ottawa, Ontario 

Rogers Television, Ottawa, Ontario 

St. Clement School, Ottawa, Ontario 

J.S. Tener, Ottawa, Ontario 

Université du Québec en Outaouais, 
Gatineau, Quebec 

University of Ottawa, Ottawa, Ontario 

YMCA-YWCA, Ottawa, Ontario 
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Financial Analysis 

Comparison of Financial Results 
(in thousands of dollars) 

2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 

Revenue 
25,377 23,177 23,363 22,360 21,273 

Generated revenue 3,330 2,600 2,359 1,863 1,649 

28,707 25,777 25,722 24,223 22,922 

Expenses 
13,930 12,873 10,553 9,597 8,855 

Stonework project – – – – 180 

Interest on capital lease obligation 3,302 3,337 3,369 3,398 3,425 

Depreciation of capital assets 1,693 1,483 1,489 1,590 1,633 

Operating expenses 11,848 10,542 10,409 8,893 9,132 

30,773 28,235 25,820 23,478 23,225 

(Deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses (2,066) (2,458) (98) 745 (303) 

(2,728) (270) (172)* (773) (470) 

(4,794) (2,728) (270) (28) (773) 
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of $1.3 million starting in 2002-03 for recapitalization expenses for the Natural Heritage Building and an amount received as 

retroactive to June 1999. 

Geee! in Genome 

committee on senior level retention and compensation. 

carrying costs for the Museum. 

Parliamentary appropriation 

Total revenue 

Personnel costs 

Total operating expenses 

Equity of Canada, beginning of year 

Equity of Canada, end of year 

* The Equity of Canada, beginning of year has been adjusted due to a change in accounting policy. 

The following provides an analysis of the 2002-03 financial results of the Museum in 

comparison to previous years. 

During fiscal year 2002-03, CMN’s parliamentary appropriation recognized as revenue in the Statement of Operations have increased 
by 9.5 percent due to additional funding for the Victoria Memorial Museum Building renovations, approval of an annual amount 

compensation for increased wages due to the renewed collective agreement with the Public Service Alliance of Canada which was 

Generated revenue for fiscal year 2002-03 were $3.3 million, 28 percent higher than the previous fiscal year thanks to continued 
demand for the Museum’s commercial operations and important sponsorships received for the development of the 
project and for the establishment of a 3-D Imaging Centre. 

Personnel costs of $13.9 million are the single most significant expense of the Corporation, representing 49 percent of total 
revenue. Personnel costs have increased by 8 percent from 2001-02 for a variety of reasons including normal wage increases, accrual 
of a provision for the settlement of a complaint regarding Pay Equity and implementation of recommendations from the Advisory 

Operating expenses totaling $11.8 million, have increased from previous year by 12 percent as a result of additional amounts 
invested in the development and promotion of large scale exhibits. 

As a result of the revenue and expenses mentioned above, the CMN reports a deficiency of revenue over expenses of 
$2.066 million for fiscal year 2002-03. This deficiency is a result of the following two factors: expenses include non-cash items 
(i.e. depreciation of capital assets, changes in the provision for employee future benefits and amortization of deferred capital funding) 
in the amount of $1.303 million and timing differences between the year of receipt of parliamentary appropriation and the year of 
its actual disbursements for expenses. 

The Museum anticipates consecutive years of deficiencies of revenue over expenses because of depreciation charges for its 
facility in Gatineau, Quebec, which is shown on the Museum’s balance sheet as a capital lease. Prior to acquiring this building in 
1997, the Museum only leased facilities, and therefore did not report on its Statement of Operations depreciation charges relating 
to a building. These lease dollars were converted in 1997 to payments on the capital lease for the facility thus creating an imbalance 
on the Statement of Operations. This accounting treatment will keep the Corporation’s Equity in a deficit position for many years. The 
situation will begin to reverse near the mid-point of the lease term and completely rectify itself over the full term of the lease. This 
does not impact the Corporation’s cash flow or financial stability in any way. 

The Museum faces a major challenge with the high cost of carrying and operating its two facilities. To relieve this situation, the 
Museum is exploring the idea of selling the Natural Heritage Building (i.e. paying out the capital lease) to PWGSC to reduce the 
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Financial Statements


Management's responsibility of financial reporting 

M anagement is responsible for establishing and maintaining a system of books, records, internal controls 

and management practices to provide reasonable assurance that: reliable financial information is 

produced; the assets of the Corporation are safeguarded and controlled; the transactions of the Corporation 

are in accordance with the relevant legislation, regulations and by-laws of the Corporation; the resources of 

the Corporation are managed efficiently and economically; and the operations of the Corporation are carried 

out effectively. 

Management is also responsible for the integrity and objectivity of the financial statements of the 

Corporation. The accompanying financial statements were prepared in accordance with Canadian generally 

accepted accounting principles. The financial information contained elsewhere in this annual report is consistent 

with that in the financial statements. 

The Board of Trustees is responsible for ensuring that management fulfils its responsibilities for financial 

reporting and internal control. The Board exercises its responsibilities through the Audit and Finance 

Committee, which includes a majority of members who are not officers of the Corporation. The Committee 

meets from time to time with management, the Corporation's internal auditors and the Office of the Auditor 

General of Canada to review the manner in which these groups are performing their responsibilities, and to 

discuss auditing, internal controls, and other relevant financial matters. The Board of Trustees has reviewed the 

financial statements with the Office of the Auditor General of Canada and has approved them. 

The financial statements have been audited by the Auditor General of Canada. Her report offers an independent 

opinion on the financial statements to the Minister of Canadian Heritage. 

Joanne DiCosimo 

President and Chief Executive Officer 

Maureen Dougan 

Vice-President, Corporate Services and Chief Operating Officer 

May 23, 2003 
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Auditor’s report 
To the Minister of Canadian Heritage 

I have audited the balance sheet of the Canadian Museum of Nature as at March 31, 2003 and the statements 

of operations and equity of Canada and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements are 

the responsibility of the Corporation's management. My responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 

statements based on my audit. 

I conducted my audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards 

require that I plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free 

of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and 

disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and 

significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. 

In my opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 

Corporation as at March 31, 2003 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in 

accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. As required by the Financial Administration 

Act, I report that, in my opinion, these principles have been applied on a basis consistent with that of the 

preceding year. 

Further, in my opinion, the transactions of the Corporation that have come to my notice during my audit 

of the financial statements have, in all significant respects, been in accordance with Part X of the Financial 

Administration Act and regulations, the Museums Act and the by-laws of the Corporation. 

Richard Flageole, FCA 

Assistant Auditor General for the Auditor General of Canada 

Ottawa, Canada 

May 23, 2003 
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(in thousands of dollars) 

Notes 2003 2002 

Assets 
Current 

Cash and short-term investments 3 5,973 8,395 

288 187 

Government departments and agencies 1,961 537 

Prepaid expenses 754 782 

8,976 9,901 

1,014 1,019 

Collections 5 1 1 

Capital assets 6 38,781 36,040 

48,772 46,961 

Liabilities 
Current 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 

2,847 2,664 

Government departments and agencies 2,236 1,840 

Current portion – obligation under capital lease 7 219 198 

Current portion – loan from Department of Canadian Heritage 7 – 377 

Deferred revenue and parliamentary appropriation 2,951 2,910 

Employee future benefits 8 184 219 

8,437 8,208 

Obligation under capital lease 7 32,924 33,143 

Deferred capital funding 9 9,522 6,124 

Employee future benefits 8 1,436 1,267 

Deferred contributions 10 962 667 

53,281 49,409 

Commitments and Contingencies 

Endowment 11 285 280 

Equity of Canada (4,794) (2,728) 

48,772 46,961 

Recommended by Management: 

C A N A D I A N  M U S E U M  O F  N A T U R E  

Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2003 

Accounts receivable 

Trade 

Restricted cash, short-term investments and receivables 3, 4 

Trade 

15, 16  

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 

Approved by the Board of Trustees: 

Dr. Frederic T. Kasravi, LLD Maureen Dougan 

Chairman of the Board of Trustees Vice-President, Corporate Services and 

Chief Operating Officer 

R. Kenneth Armstrong Lynne Ladouceur, CA 

Chairman of the Audit and Finance Committee Senior Full Time Financial Officer 
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(in thousands of dollars) 

Notes 2003 2002 

Revenue 
Commercial operations 12 1,324 1,264 

Contributions 1,345 508 

Educational programmes 279 402 

Interest income 243 344 

Scientific services 85 55 

Other 54 27 

3,330 2,600 

Expenses 
13,930 12,873 

Interest on capital lease obligation 3,302 3,337 

Operation and maintenance of buildings 2,704 2,603 

Professional and special services 2,481 2,428 

Depreciation of capital assets 1,693 1,483 

Real property leases and taxes 1,604 1,579 

Exhibitions 1,573 652 

Information management infrastructure and systems 1,235 1,453 

797 628 

Repairs and maintenance 779 664 

515 411 

91 91 

Purchase of objects for collections 25 6 

Other 44 27 

30,773 28,235 

(27,443) (25,635) 

13 25,377 23,177 

(2,066) (2,458) 

(2,728) (270) 

(4,794) (2,728) 

Statement of Operations and Equity of Canada for the year ended March 31, 2003 

Personnel costs 

Marketing and communications 

Travel 

Freight and cartage 

Net result of operations before government funding 

Parliamentary appropriation 

Net result of operations 

Equity of Canada, beginning of year 

Equity of Canada, end of year 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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(in thousands of dollars) 

2003 2002 

Cash receipts – customers 4,336 2,794 

Cash receipts – parliamentary appropriation 23,487 26,082 

Cash disbursements – suppliers and employees (26,138) (21,881) 

Interest received 273 373 

Interest paid (3,303) (3,336) 

(1,345) 4,032 

Financing activities 
Repayment of loan from the Department of Canadian Heritage (377) (362) 

Appropriation used to purchase depreciable capital assets 3,922 2,189 

Obligation under capital lease (198) (179) 

Endowment increase 5 – 

3,352 1,648 

Investing activities 
Acquisition of capital assets (4,434) (2,189) 

5 (101) 

(4,429) (2,290) 

(Decrease) increase in cash and short-term investments (2,422) 3,390 

8,395 5,005 

5,973 8,395 

C A N A D I A N  M U S E U M  O F  N A T U R E  

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended March 31, 2003 

Operating activities 

Decrease (increase) in restricted cash, short-term investments and receivables 

Cash and short-term investments, beginning of year 

Cash and short-term investments, end of year 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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Museums Act 
Financial Administration Act. 

A) Cash and Short-term Investments 

B) Collections 

C) Capital Assets 

useful life of the assets as follows: 

Major leasehold improvements are capitalized and depreciated over the term of the respective leases to a maximum period of 

operations in the year of acquisition. 

Corporation that entails settlement by future payment. 

are deferred and recognized on the Statement of Operations in the year in which the related expenses are incurred. 

F) Contributions 

expenses are incurred. 

Property under Collection cabinets Research Furnishings and Motor Computer equipment 
capital lease and compactors equipment equipment office equipment vehicles 

Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2003 

1. Authority and mission 
The Canadian Museum of Nature was established by the on July 1st, 1990, and is an agent Crown corporation named 
in Part I of Schedule III to the 

The Corporation’s mission is to increase, throughout Canada and internationally, interest in, knowledge of and appreciation and 
respect for the natural world by establishing, maintaining and developing for research and posterity a collection of natural history 
objects, with special but not exclusive reference to Canada, and by demonstrating the natural world, the knowledge derived from it 
and the understanding it represents. 

2. Significant accounting policies 
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles and reflect the 
following policies. 

Cash and short-term investments consist of balances with banks and investments in money market instruments with terms to maturity 
of 12 months or less. These investments are carried at cost, which approximates market. 

The Canadian Museum of Nature holds and preserves invaluable collections of natural history specimens for the benefit of Canadians, 
present and future. The collections form the largest part of the assets of the Corporation. The collections are shown as an asset on 
the balance sheet at a nominal value of $1,000 due to practical difficulties in determining a meaningful value for these assets. Objects 
purchased for the collections are recorded as an expense in the year of acquisition. Objects donated to the Corporation are not 
recorded in the books of accounts. 

Capital assets are recorded at cost. Assets recorded as capital leases are initially recorded at the present value of the minimum lease 
payments at the inception of the lease. Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method using rates based on the estimated 

five years. 
Amounts included in renovation work in progress are transferred to the appropriate capital asset classification upon completion, 

and are then depreciated according to the Corporation’s policy. 
Material and equipment acquired for the purpose of the design, development and maintenance of exhibits are charged to 

D) Employee Future Benefits 
i) Pension benefits 
Employees participate in the Public Service Superannuation Plan administered by the Government of Canada. The Corporation’s 
contribution to the plan reflects the full cost of the employer contributions. This amount is currently based on multiple of the employee’s 
required contributions, and may change over time depending on the experience of the Plan. These contributions represent the total 
pension obligations of the Corporation and are charged to operations on a current basis. The Corporation is not currently required to 
make contributions with respect to actuarial deficiencies of the Public Service Superannuation Account. 

ii) Severance benefits 
Employees are entitled to severance benefits, as provided for under labor contracts and conditions of employment. The cost of these 
benefits is accrued as the employees render the services necessary to earn them. Management determined the accrued benefit 
obligation using a method based upon assumptions and its best estimates. These benefits represent the only obligation of the 

E) Parliamentary Appropriation 
The parliamentary appropriation for operating expenditures is recognized as revenue in the fiscal year for which it is approved. The  
portion of the parliamentary appropriation used to purchase depreciable capital assets is recorded as deferred capital funding and 
amortized on the same basis and over the same period as the related capital assets. Parliamentary appropriations for specific projects 

The Corporation follows the deferral method of accounting for contributions. 
Unrestricted contributions are recognized as revenue when received or receivable if the amount to be received can be reasonably 

estimated and collection is reasonably assured. Contributions externally restricted are deferred and recognized as revenue in the year 
in which the related expenses are recognized. Restricted investment income is recognized as revenue in the year in which the related 

Contributions received in a form other than cash are recorded at their fair value at the date they are received by the Corporation. 
Volunteers contribute a significant number of hours per year. Because of the difficulty of determining their fair value, contributed 

services are not recognized in the financial statements. 

Technical 
and software 

35 years 35 years 10 years 10 years 10 years 5 years 3 years 
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G) Endowment 

H) Use of Estimates 

(in thousands of dollars) 

2003 2002 

Cash 1,089 1,327 

Short-term investments 4,884 7,068 

5,973 8,395 

� 

� 

� 

� 

(in thousands of dollars) 

2003 2002 

Accumulated Net book Net book 
Cost depreciation value 

Land 555 – 555 555 

Property under capital lease 35,040 6,941 28,099 29,091 

Collection cabinets and compactors 3,553 706 2,847 2,925 

3,517 3,108 409 74 

Research equipment 2,688 1,542 1,146 759 

Furnishings and office equipment 1,321 996 325 425 

Leasehold improvements 2,187 2,035 152 146 

389 280 109 103 

Motor vehicles 58 51 7 13 

5,132 – 5,132 1,949 

54,440 15,659 38,781 36,040 

C A N A D I A N  M U S E U M  O F  N A T U R E  

The endowment consists of restricted donations received by the Corporation. The endowment principal is required to be maintained 
intact. The investment income generated from the endowment is treated as a deferred contribution and must be used in accordance 
with the purpose established by the donors. Endowments received do not flow through the Statement of Operations but rather are 
credited to endowments directly. 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles requires management 
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements 
and the reported amounts of income and expenses for the year. Employee-related liabilities and estimated useful lives of capital assets 
are the most significant items where estimates are used. Actual results could differ from those estimated. 

3. Cash and short-term investments 

The Corporation invests operating and restricted funds in the short-term money market instruments that are rated AA or better 
and guaranteed by the Government of Canada, a provincial government or the Royal Bank of Canada. The investment vehicles consist 
primarily of banker’s acceptance, promissory notes and term deposits. The overall portfolio yield as at March 31, 2003 was 2.89% 
(2002 – 2.08%) and the average term to maturity is 13 days (2002 – 43 days). The fair market value of the investment portfolio at 
year-end approximates the book value. 

4. Restricted cash, short-term investments and receivables 
Restricted cash, short-term investments and receivables include deferred contributions, funds received for the Endowment and 
amounts receivable that can be reasonably estimated and for which collection is reasonably assured. Restricted cash accounts are 
managed in accordance with the donor’s wishes and are invested in accordance with investment policies of the Corporation. 

5. Collections 
The natural history collections consist of over 10 million specimens and grew by 24,210 items this fiscal year (2002 – 23,489). They 
are an exceptional scientific resource that is available nationally and internationally for research, exhibits and education. 

The collections are divided into four discipline related groups, being: 
the Earth Sciences collection (minerals, rocks, gems, fossils) 
the Vertebrates collection (mammals, birds, fish, amphibians, reptiles) 
the Invertebrates collection (molluscs, insects, crustaceans, parasites, worms) 
the Botany collection (algae, vascular plants, mosses, lichens) 

In addition, conservation research is conducted to improve the management of the collections. 
The Corporation has incurred $1.4 million in 2003 (2002 – $1.2 million) for the management, protection and conservation of 

its collections. 

6. Capital assets 

value 

Computer equipment and software 

Technical equipment 

Renovation work in progress 

The Victoria Memorial Museum Building and grounds are owned by the Government of Canada and consequently are not included 
in capital assets. 



1551_CMN_AR_ENG  6/27/03  1:57 PM  Page 50

48 T R A N S I T I O N  

discharge its obligation under the lease and obtain free title to the building in 2031. 

(in thousands of dollars) 

Obligation under 
capital lease 

2004 3,500 

2005 3,500 

2006 3,500 

2007 3,500 

2008 3,500 

82,250 

99,750 (1) 

(66,607) 

33,143 (2) 

(1) 

(2) 

(in thousands of dollars) 

2003 2002 

1,486 1,274 

Expense for the year 287 268 

Benefits paid during the year (153) (56) 

1,620 1,486 

Short term portion 184 219 

Long term portion 1,436 1,267 

1,620 1,486 

in the deferred capital funding balance are as follows: 

(in thousands of dollars) 

2003 2002 

Beginning balance 6,124 4,417 

Appropriation used to purchase depreciable capital assets 3,922 2,189 

Amortization of deferred capital funding (524) (482) 

Ending balance 9,522 6,124 

7. Capital lease obligation 
A) The Natural Heritage Building (NHB) houses the Canadian Museum of Nature natural history collections and administrative func­
tions, on the Corporation’s site in Gatineau, Quebec. The Corporation is acquiring the building through a lease purchase agreement with 
a term of 35 years. It is committed to pay rent under all circumstances and in the event of termination of the lease, at the 
Corporation’s option or otherwise, pay sufficient rent to repay all financing on the building. Management intends to completely 

B) In 1997-98, the Corporation secured financing for the additional construction and fit-up costs of the NHB with the Department of 
Canadian Heritage. This loan is now fully reimbursed. 

Future minimum lease repayments, by year and in aggregate, under the financing obligation are as follows: 

Thereafter 

Total minimum future payments 

Deduct: Imputed interest 

Present value of financing obligations 

The amounts payable under the capital lease are based on the fixed interest rate of 9.88%, for a period of 35 years, established at the time of signing the lease. 
The present value of the capital lease obligation based on a current market interest rate of 7.5% is estimated at $41 million. 

8. Employee future benefits 

i) Pension benefits 
The Public Service Superannuation Plan requires the Corporation to contribute at a rate of 2.14 times the employees’ contribution 
(2002 – 2.14). The Corporation’s contribution to the plan during the year was $1,303,500 (2002 – $1,126,000). 

ii) Severance benefits 
The corporation provides severance benefits to its employees. This benefit plan is not pre-funded and thus has no assets, resulting in 
a plan deficit equal to the accrued benefit obligation. Information about the plan is as follows: 

Accrued benefit obligation, beginning of year 

Accrued benefit obligation, end of year 

9. Deferred capital funding 
Deferred capital funding represents unamortized parliamentary appropriation used to purchase depreciable capital assets. Changes 
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contribution balance and the components of this balance are as follows: 

(in thousands of dollars) 

2003 2002 

Beginning balance 667 516 

Contributions received during the year 1,397 608 

Amounts recognized in the year (1,102) (457) 

Ending balance 962 667 

Deferred contributions are comprised of: 
Funds restricted for research purposes 71 77 

Funds restricted for programming purposes 889 581 

Restricted endowment fund interest 2 9 

962 667 

research of entomological collections for the Museum. 

which is included in deferred contributions (Note 10). 

Commercial operations revenue is comprised as follows: 

(in thousands of dollars) 

2003 2002 

Admission fees 648 600 

Rental of facilities 369 391 

208 172 

Boutique and cafeteria leases 73 68 

Publishing revenues 16 26 

Publishing royalties 10 7 

1,324 1,264 

(in thousands of dollars) 

2003 2002 

Capital and Operating Budget 25,359 23,691 

Supplementary budgets 3,030 2,544 

28,389 26,235 

Loan repayment to the Department of Canadian Heritage 377 377 

(2,845) (2,855) 

Deferred revenue used in current year to complete specific projects 2,854 1,127 

Appropriation used to purchase depreciable capital assets (3,922) (2,189) 

Amortization of deferred capital funding 524 482 

25,377 23,177 

C A N A D I A N  M U S E U M  O F  N A T U R E  

10. Deferred contributions 
Deferred contributions represent unrecognized externally restricted donations and investment income. The changes in the deferred 

11. Endowment 
The Corporation maintains an endowment in the principal amount of $285,000 (2002 – $280,000) received from Anne and Henry 
Howden, which included a significant entomological collection. The endowment was established to enable professional studies and 

The principal of the Systematic Entomology Endowment Fund can not be expended. Accumulated interest earned from the 
endowment must be expended for specified purposes and the residual balance totalled $7,514 at March 31, 2003 (2002 – $9,710) 

In the event that the Corporation decides not to maintain entomological collections, the Systematic Entomology Endowment Fund 
shall be transferred, along with any entomological collections, to the Royal Ontario Museum. 

12. Commercial operations 

Parking 

13. Parliamentary appropriation 
To achieve its mission, the Corporation relies on government funding. This government funding is comprised as follows: 

Appropriation approved: 

Portion of parliamentary appropriation deferred for future capital projects 

Appropriation used 
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(in thousands of dollars) 

2003-04 4,442 

2004-05 2,501 

2005-06 296 

2006-07 70 

Museum Building 

240 McLeod Street 

1740 Pink Road 

Information: 
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14. Related party transactions 
The Corporation is related to all Government of Canada departments, agencies and Crown corporations. The Corporation incurred 
expenses for the work and services provided by other government departments and agencies. These transactions were conducted in 
the normal course of operations, under the same terms and conditions that applied to outside parties. 

15. Contractual commitments 
As of March 31, 2003, the Corporation has contracts for information systems and building maintenance services with a remaining 
value of $7,309,000. Future minimum payments under these contracts are as follows: 

As of March 31, 2003, the Corporation also has long-term contracts for building construction and architects services for the refit 
of the Victoria Memorial Museum Building with a remaining value of $9,579,000. This project will be completed in the fiscal year 
ending March 31, 2007. 

16. Contingency 
In 1994, a pay equity complaint was filed by the Public Service Alliance of Canada (PSAC) against the Corporation alleging discrimination 
in wages based on gender inequity. During 2001-02, the PSAC and the Corporation have developed a new Job Classification and 
Evaluation Plan. This Plan has been used to determine relativity between jobs and to ensure that there is no gender based wage 
discrimination within jobs. The new plan has been implemented retroactively to June 15, 1999. In 2002, the PSAC filed a second pay 
equity complaint against the Treasury Board and specific separate employers, including the Corporation. 

The Corporation cannot determine and assess the outcome of these complaints on its operations with certainty. A provision for 
these expenses has been recorded based on management’s best estimates. The effect, if any, of ultimate resolution of these matters 
will be accounted for when determinable. 

17. Comparative Figures 
The 2002 comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the 2003 financial statement presentation. 
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